Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Planning Committee (North)
Tuesday, 3rd August, 2021 at 5.30 pm
Park Suite, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

Councillors:

Karen Burgess (Chairman)
Liz Kitchen (Vice-Chairman)
Matthew Allen
Andrew Baldwin
Tony Bevis
Martin Boffey
Toni Bradnum
Alan Britten
Peter Burgess
Roy Cornell
Christine Costin
Brian Donnelly
Ruth Fletcher
Billy Greening
Frances Haigh
Tony Hogben

Lynn Lambert
Richard Landeryou
Gordon Lindsay
John Milne
Colin Minto
Christian Mitchell
Godfrey Newman
Louise Potter
Stuart Ritchie
David Skipp
Ian Stannard
Claire Vickers
Belinda Walters
Tricia Youtan

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 6 July 2021
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

7 - 12

4.

Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the
Chief Executive

To consider the following reports of the Head of Development & Building Control and to take
such action thereon as may be necessary:
5.

Appeals

13 - 14

Applications for determination by Committee:
6.

DC/20/2578 - The Cobblers, Hayes Lane, Slinfold

15 - 42

Ward: Itchingfield, Slinfold and Warnham
Applicant: Saxon Weald
7.

DC/21/0685 - Holly Farm, Winterpit Lane, Mannings Heath

43 - 62

Ward: Nuthurst and Lower Beeding
Applicant: Concept Developments
8.

DC/20/2589 - Land North of 17 Foxes Close, Southwater
Ward: Southwater South and Shipley
Applicant: Mr Kevin Slight

9.

Urgent Business
Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances

63 - 80

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Addressing the
Committee

Members must address the meeting through the Chair. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only.

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be
considered at the next committee meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions.

Appeals

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed
in the agenda.

Agenda Items

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is
proposed and finishing with the recommendation.

Public Speaking on
Agenda Items
(Speakers must give
notice by not later than
noon two working
days before the date
of the meeting)

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of
the Chairman.

Rules of Debate

The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or
a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at
the discretion of the Chairman)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment to a motion
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of original motion

Page 3

-

-

-

-

has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on
amendment). Mover of amendment has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as
this does not negate the motion)
One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Alternative Motion to
Approve

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and
Members will then vote on the original recommendation.

Alternative Motion to
Refuse

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on
the original recommendation.

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Vice-Chairman

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the ViceChairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above.

Page 4

Original recommendation to APPROVE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – APPROVED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT
A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Member to move
alternative motion
to REFUSE and give
planning reasons

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 5

Director considers
planning reasons

Vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)
carried – APPROVED

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to REFUSE1

Majority against?
Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
to REFUSE carried
amended condition(s) - REFUSED
not carried – VOTE ON
ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to REFUSE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated
1

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely.

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Original recommendation to REFUSE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – REFUSED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT AN
APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE and give
planning reasons2

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 6

Director considers
planning reasons

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE carried
- APPROVED

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated

2

Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Agenda Item 2
Planning Committee (North)
6 JULY 2021

Present:

Councillors: Karen Burgess (Chairman), Liz Kitchen (Vice-Chairman),
Matthew Allen, Andrew Baldwin, Tony Bevis, Martin Boffey,
Toni Bradnum, Peter Burgess, Christine Costin, Ruth Fletcher,
Billy Greening, Frances Haigh, Lynn Lambert, Richard Landeryou,
John Milne, Christian Mitchell, Louise Potter, David Skipp and
Claire Vickers

Apologies:

Councillors: Alan Britten, Roy Cornell, Tony Hogben, Gordon Lindsay,
Colin Minto, Godfrey Newman, Stuart Ritchie, Ian Stannard,
Belinda Walters and Tricia Youtan

PCN/14 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 8 June were approved as
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
PCN/15 DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
There were no declarations on interest.
PCN/16 ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements.
PCN/17 APPEALS
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions, as
circulated, was noted.
PCN/18 DC/21/0498 - CROSBY FARM (LAND NORTH OF SLINFOLD CRICKET
CLUB), LYONS ROAD, SLINFOLD
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought full planning permission for 24 houses and a replacement cricket
pavilion. The site was subject to two previous outline applications: DC/19/1386,
which had been granted on appeal; and DC/21/0109, which had been granted
outline permission by the Committee on 8 June 2021.
The application site was located north of Lyons Road on the north-eastern edge
of the village of Slinfold, to the rear of Slinfold sport ground and cricket pitch.
An addendum to the report had been circulated to Members and published on
the Council website. It advised of an updated road safety audit from WSCC
Highway Authority. It also gave details of an additional consultation response
1

Page 7

Planning Committee (North)
6 July 2021

from the Parish Council and the officer’s response to it, and advised of a further
objection from a member of the public.
The addendum also recommended an additional condition relating to potential
Roman archaeology on the site, following the Council’s Archaeologist
consultation response.
The Parish Council had commented on the application. There had been a total
of 14 representations objecting to the application and 23 in support. Three
members of the public spoke in objection to the application, and one member of
the public (the President of the Cricket Club) and the applicant both addressed
the Committee in support of the proposal. A representative of the Parish
Council spoke in support of the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: principle of the
development; housing density, mix and affordable housing; heritage; design
and appearance; landscape, trees; amenity impacts; highways and access; and
rights of way. They also took the planning history of the proposal into account.
Members had concerns regarding the impact of the development on the
character of the surrounding area, in particular in relation to the design and
ridge heights proposed for plots 1 – 6. Reference was given to plots 7, 8, and
11 as an appropriate design approach.
RESOLVED
i)

That planning application DC/21/0498 be determined by the Head of
Development & Building Control with a view to approval, subject to
amendment to the designs of plots 1 – 6 (including ridge heights),
and further consideration of conditions, in consultation with Local
Members, and the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee.

ii)

That subject to i) above, details of materials required under Condition
10 be approved in consultation with the Local Members, and the
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee.

iii)

That, subject to i) above, a legal agreement be entered into to secure
on-site affordable housing provision and a Travel Plan Statement.

iv)

In the event that the legal agreement is not completed within three
months of the decision of this Committee, the Director of Place be
authorised to refuse permission on the grounds of failure to secure
the obligations necessary to make the development acceptable in
planning terms.

Page
2 8

Planning Committee (North)
6 July 2021

3

PCN/19 DC/21/0584 - THE BARN, CHURCH CENTRE, CAUSEWAY, HORSHAM
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought planning permission to carry out alterations to the entrance doors and
mobility access ramp at the rear of the building. The proposals included
installation of a roof lantern and light tunnels, plus internal alterations subject to
a separate application for listed building consent. The alterations proposed
were to the 1960’s/70’s rear additions and not the Barn Room or elevations of
the Grade II listed building.
The application site was located on the northwest side of the Causeway in the
Horsham Town Conservation Area.
The Neighbourhood Council raised no objection. There had been 20
representations objecting to the application and six in support. Three members
of the public spoke in objection to the application. One member of the public
and two representatives of the applicant all addressed the Committee in support
of the proposal.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: impact on the
character and appearance of the site; and impact on neighbouring amenity.
It was noted that concerns regarding change of use to a pre-school were not
relevant to the current application; the applicant was seeking advice and should
a planning application be required for the proposed change of use this would be
considered as a separate matter.
Whilst sound insulation was not a part of this application, it was suggested that
the applicant may wish to consider sound proofing the party wall to reduce the
impact of noise on neighbouring residents.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/0584 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported.
PCN/20 DC/21/0585 - THE BARN, CHURCH CENTRE, CAUSEWAY, HORSHAM
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought Listed Building Consent for alterations to the entrance doors and
mobility access ramp at the rear of the building. The proposals included
installation of a roof lantern and light tunnels, plus internal alterations including
improved toilet facilities. The alterations proposed were to the 1960’s/70’s rear
additions and not the Barn Room or elevations of the Grade II listed building.
The application site was located on the northwest side of the Causeway in the
Horsham Town Conservation Area.

Page3 9

Planning Committee (North)
6 July 2021

The Neighbourhood Council raised no objection. There had been eight
representations objecting to the application, and a further two which did not
object to the Listed Building alterations. Three members of the public spoke in
objection to the application. One member of the public and two representatives
of the applicant all addressed the Committee in support of the proposal.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: Paragraph 193
and 194 of the NPPF(2018); the impact of the changes on the character of the
building and whether they preserve the historic interest of the Grade II Listed
Building.
RESOLVED
That Listed Building application DC/21/0585 be granted subject to the
conditions as reported.
PCN/21 DC/21/0650 - HOP OAST PARK AND RIDE, WORTHING ROAD, HORSHAM
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought planning permission for the change of use of land to allow for the siting
of a storage container for the temporary storage of hard and soft furniture in
association with the Council’s up-coming Re-Use Initiative. The site would be a
drop-off point for furniture to be sold through a pop-up shop in Horsham town
centre. The container was expected to remain in this location for nine to 12
months, before being relocated elsewhere.
The site was within the Southwater Business Plan area, not the Horsham
Blueprint Business Plan, as stated in the report.
The application site was located within the Hop Oast Park and Ride site, west of
Worthing Road, outside of any defined built-up area boundary.
The Parish Council had not commented on the application, and no written
representations had been received.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: principle of
development; landscape character and visual amenity; amenity impacts; and
highways impacts.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/0650 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported.

The meeting closed at 7.00 pm having commenced at 5.30 pm

Page 410

Planning Committee (North)
6 July 2021

5

CHAIRMAN

Page5 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Planning Committee (NORTH)
Date: 3rd August 2021
Report on Appeals: 24th June 2021 – 21st July 2021
1.

Appeals Lodged

Horsham District Council have received notice from the Planning Inspectorate that the following
appeals have been lodged:
Date
Lodged

Ref No.

Site

DC/21/0603

Mannings Heath Golf Club
Hammerpond Road
Mannings Heath
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 6PG

DC/21/0975

2.

25-Jun-21

Land South of The Mount Farm
The Mount
Ifield
West Sussex

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Application
Refused

No
14-Jul-21 recommendation
made

N/A

N/A

Appeals started

Consideration of the following appeals has started during the period:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

Start Date

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

28A Warnham Road
Horsham
DC/20/1490
West Sussex
RH12 2QU

Written
Representation

08-Jul-21

Application
Refused

N/A

Stud Farm
Capel Road
Rusper
DC/20/1315
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 4PZ

Written
Representation

09-Jul-21

Application
Refused

N/A

Land at The Junction
of East Street, Burnt
House Lane and
Lambs Green Road
DC/20/0618
Chowles
Rusper
West Sussex
RH12 4RG

Written
Representation

19-Jul-21

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

Written
Representation

21-Jul-21

Application
Refused

Application
Refused

Perrets
Smithers Hill Lane
Shipley
DC/20/0805
West Sussex
RH13 8PP

Page 13

3.

Appeal Decisions

HDC have received notice from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government that
the following appeals have been determined:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

DC/20/1350

Garden Corner
Blackhouse Road
Colgate
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 6HS

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/20/0819

Land Adjacent
Fieldfare
North Heath Close
Horsham
RH12 5PH

Written
Appeal
Representation Allowed

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

Page 14

Decision

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

3rd August 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Hybrid application for demolition of existing retirement scheme and the
construction of 12No. flats with associated car parking and landscaping
(full planning) and replacement scout hut (outline)

SITE:

The Cobblers Hayes Lane Slinfold West Sussex RH13 0SA

WARD:

Itchingfield, Slinfold and Warnham

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2578

APPLICANT:

Name: Saxon Weald Address: 38-42 Worthing Road Horsham West
Sussex RH12 1DT

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The application site includes land owned by
Horsham District Council.
RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions and the
completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement. In the event that the legal
agreement is not completed within three months of the decision of this
Committee, the Director of Place be authorised to refuse permission on
the grounds of failure to secure the obligations necessary to make the
development acceptable in planning terms.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

This application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing buildings on
site and construction of 12 no. flats with associated car parking and landscaping, as well as
outline planning permission for a replacement scout hut.

1.2

The development would comprise 8 no. 1 bed units and 4 no. 2 bed units and be served by
23 car parking spaces (21 unallocated spaces for the new homes, including for visitors, and
2 spaces retained for Stone Cottages). The new development would be accessed via the
existing site access to The Cobblers along Haynes Lane. All of the dwellings would be for
affordable rent.

1.3

The development is laid out as two blocks, running parallel to Hayes Lane and Greenfield
Road. The flats are orientated to provide natural surveillance to communal areas within the
development, with flats 11 and 12 facing out towards the parking area. All of the flats will

Contact Officer: Matthew Porter

Page 15

Tel: 01403 215382

have their own front door at street-level. All the ground floor flats will have their own private
gardens, and all first floor flats will have individual small balconies. The exterior materials
would comprise facing brick, clay upper floor and roof tiles, and dark cladding. There would
be two shared refuse stores within the site.
1.4

Following negotiations with your planning officers, the adjacent scout hut area has now been
included within the red line of the application site (on land owned by Horsham District
Council) to help facilitate its future redevelopment. It is shown on provision that the residential
element of the scheme is not linked to the scout hut land or works needed for that. This is
due to the uncertainty around when the scouts will have funding and the associated impact
on delivery of the affordable homes.

1.5

Accordingly, the scout hut element of the application is outline only. The planning agent has
advised that the indicative size of the scout hut as shown is as requested by the scouts and
the planning agent has confirmed the scouts will continue with the reserved matters for its
redevelopment once they have funding. This is why the application submitted is hybrid form.

1.6

In terms of the new homes and their occupancy, this is a 100% affordable rented scheme.
The site will be managed by Saxon Weald who will also manage and maintain the communal
landscaping on the site. The rented homes will be let at a maximum of 80% of market rent
value. Their physical build has been designed to be in line with M4(2) of the Building
Regulations. This allows for residents to adapt the dwellings and stay in the homes for as
long as possible, without designating the homes for one group. Occupancy of the new homes
will operate in accordance with a prioritisation at first let for over 55’s with a local connection,
before cascading out to other age-groups.

1.7

The car park area which Saxon Weald owns will be resurfaced, including in front of the Scout
Hut and the access way to this off from Greenfield Road. There is no direct allocation of
parking to the scouts. Saxon Weald will allow the scouts to have permits for the two visitor
spaces
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.8

The application site is an irregular shaped parcel of land within the Built up Area Boundary
of Slinfold. It is located towards the north end of Hayes Lane. The site itself is currently
developed as a retirement housing complex, and has been since the late 1960s. The site
was last in use in July 2020, providing 17 units of accommodation as well as garages. The
current buildings on the site are two storey residential blocks with shallow pitched roofs, red
brick and PVC clad, and the detached garages are prefabricated concrete. The scout hut
building is of a similar construction to a portacabin but with a pliable corrugated roof. There
are a total of 15 existing car spaces on site.

1.9

Vehicular access to the site is provided in two locations. The site has its own access from
Hayes Lane (a 30 mph speed limit) linking to The Street and the A29, in the form of a priority
junction which allows for the passing of two vehicles. This is the primary access. A secondary
access exists to the southeast of the site, via Greenfield Road that leads to the garages.
There is a wastewater pumping station adjacent to the site.

1.10

The site is bounded to the north and south by residential properties on Hayes Lane and to
the south west, it borders the side of properties along Greenfield Road. The immediate
surroundings are principally residential in character. The Cobblers, Hayes Lane and
Greenfield Road are characterised by mostly two-storey residential semi-detached and
terraced houses with sloped roofs.

1.11

The northern boundary of the site immediately abuts the Slinfold Conservation Area, which
contains a number of Listed Buildings. The closest Listed Building is Grade II Taylors, The
Street, located some 90 metres north of the site.

Page 16

The site falls within the Bat Sustenance Zone to the Mens SAC (HDPF Policy 31) and the
3km buffer around the Wellcross Farm landing strip. The western end of the site falls with a
medium pressure gas pipeline buffer. The underlying site geology is brick clay (weald).
2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Section 66 (1) and 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Policy 43 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD (September 2017)
Slinfold Conservation Area Appraisal (September 2020)
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Slinfold Parish Neighbourhood Plan (Made, January 2018)
Policy 1 - Conservation Area
Policy 4 - Conserve and Enhance Biodiversity
Policy 5 - Development Principles
Policy 6 - Housing Mix
Policy 10- The Cobblers
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
SF/12/67

Erection of old peoples housing with wardens
accommodation: outline

Permitted 07-11-1967

SF/43/68

Erection of old peoples accommodation:
Reserved Matters

Permitted 15-11-1968

Page 17

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Landscape Architect: No Objection
Satisfied amended proposals have addressed many concerns previously raised. Standard
landscape and maintenance and management plan conditions necessary.
HDC Conservation Officer: No Objection
The more traditional colours of the proposed building will be less conspicuous and will
improve these long views through the Conservation Area as a result. Suggest materials
condition.
HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
Recommend conditions: air quality mitigation plan; Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP); land contamination; asbestos; waste removal; electric charging specification.
HDC Drainage Engineer: No Objection
HDC Housing: Comment
Applicant has worked alongside HDC Housing Officers to bring forward a proposal for a
100% affordable rented scheme, with 12 units on site, which will greatly help meet the
demand on the Housing Register. Proposal is more than policy compliant with affordable
housing requirements in HDPF Policy 16.
Understood the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan has identified this site could provide housing
for the elderly and that there is a strong desire by the Parish Council to restrict the proposed
scheme for residents over the age of 55. In support of this desire, a Housing Needs Survey
conducted by Action in rural Sussex has been supplied.
The Horsham District Council Housing Register currently shows 129 applicants wishing to
live in Slinfold. However, this does not confirm that those applicants have a declared local
connection to the area, the number of which currently stands at 15.
Of all the applicants wishing to live in Slinfold, 65 are over the age of 55, and crucially, there
is only 1 applicant with a declared connection who is over 55.
Conversations with the applicant have seen a number of provisions to cater for residents
aged 55 or above. These include:



The accommodation being restricted to residents on the housing register over the age of
55 with a local connection at initial letting stage
The properties being built to M4(2) standards with the addition of wet floor showers in the
ground floor units

It is important to note that retaining the scheme as General needs accommodation would not
preclude any eligible applicants over the age of 55 wishing to move to the scheme to be
considered, however it ensures that the scheme would provide the housing that is truly
needed in the Parish.

Page 18

Arguably Housing Offices would be unlikely to support a scheme of this type if it were age
restricted as it would not be possible to demonstrate the need.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
Southern Water: No Objection
Exact position of public sewers determined on site. No habitable rooms within minimum 15
metres of wastewater pumping station boundary, due to vibration and noise and potential
odour. Existing access arrangements to the station to be maintained. Surface water drainage
information shows no flows greater than existing levels is been connected to the system
which is acceptable.
Ecology Consultant: No Objection
Satisfied will not affect ecology of site or HRA Screening. Recommended conditions:
Accordance with Ecological Appraisal recommends; biodiversity enhancement strategy,
wildlife sensitive lighting scheme.
WSCC Flood Risk Management: No objection, based on the FRA.
WSCC Highways: No Objection
Transport Note (TN) reviewed. Visibility appears unobstructed, this is a well-established
access with no record of any accident history to suggest it has been operating unsafely. Also
access to rear from Greenfield Road, this leads to some garages currently and has been in
situ for some time. In terms of vehicle trips, these would generally be expected to be lower
due to the decrease in dwellings on the site, with 12 proposed instead of 17 existing flats.
Greenfield Road access offers access to the Scout Hut. Consideration and allocation of
marked out parking needs to be considered for anyone else using this access and parking
area other than new residents.
The Local Highway Authority does not consider the proposal would have an unacceptable
impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the
highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework
(paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
Conditions: Car parking space (details required) and cycle parking.

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
3.2

2 objections received from separate addresses, raising the following issues:
Scout Hut
Comment as a Scout Leader. Scout movement in this village is one of the largest youth
groups in locality with over 100 children, young people and leaders. Slinfold village plan that
people of this village voted for, states this policy seeks to ensure the scout hut can be
replaced at this location if no other suitable sites comes forward. To date and with 3 sites
underway/completed no scout hut has been forthcoming. This proposal shows absolutely no
consideration whatsoever for this important community amenity.
Current hut is well past its service life, too small, and need of a new roof. If the hut stays as
it is, what access will be allowed? At present an implied permission exists and few vehicles
park to the rear allowing the scouts free access. With proposal, the current arrangement will
become unworkable. Most evenings, parents drive and park to drop off and collect. Scout
leaders attend with vehicles sometimes with trailers. Season camps see at least 2 minibuses
and associated vehicles. There are no spaces in Greenfield Road.

Page 19

Design and Appearance
Most of the development looks attractive but design and materials that faces Hayes Lane is
not in keeping. This part would look more in keeping if in black cladding. Front porches facing
Hayes Lane very unattractive and reminiscent of 1950s Crawley council estate. Will the
refuse/recycling bins be within an enclosed area not visible from Hayes lane.
3.3

1 supporting representation received, raising following:
Generally in favour but ask that as far as it possible, cladding be used and construction
method meet fire safety.
3 representations neither objecting to nor supporting, raising the following:
Bats may be roosting on site. Can approval be conditional to construction management plan
to ensure heavy vehicles do not access the site via Greenfield and Streetfield Road. Access
is very restricted.
Elderly Accommodation
17 units exclusively for elderly occupants is being replaced with 12 units with no minimum
age requirement. Means lose 17 residences for elderly population in village. A need for
retirement age accommodation when the existing scheme at Cobblers was built in 1970 and
that need now clearly even greater. Central position of site in village and close to the bus
routes and village store makes it obvious choice for elderly occupation. Other developments
will cater for affordable housing needs but not dedicated for elderly.
Elevation Heights
Drawings should show height and outline of development in relation to existing buildings.
Without this it is difficult to ascertain the scale, particularly as so close to Conservation Area.

3.5

Slinfold Parish Council: Objection (2nd response)
The Cobblers was the only age-related facility in the Village and was rated very highly when
Slinfold Parish Council organised its own survey and asked all residents (not just the elderly)
what sort of accommodation they would like to see in the village. As well as starter homes,
so that the children of villagers could remain in the village, the next requirement was for
somewhere their widowed dependent parents could live and be looked after easily by their
families. The ex-residents of The Cobblers understood that their accommodation was being
improved in the new build as it was not up to present day standards and that it would remain
as somewhere they and their age-group could live in the future. Indeed, residents were even
told that it would be possible to move back to the accommodation once it had been
completed. As a village, we would like to promote this development as accommodation for
the elderly in the right location and as detailed in the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan (SNP)
which had supporting evidence for this and was agreed by both the village and the examiner.
Following points/questions: What was the demand / occupancy rate percentage in the old
complex? This had serious defects in terms of specification, quality and facilities? If the 17
units were needed and occupied before, when the building was not really fit for purpose, they
must still be needed now! Rather than dismiss the Housing Needs Survey (HNS) provided
as out of date and “is not considered to supply particularly relevant data” and therefore
irrelevant, in view of the SNP expressing a wish for continued elderly provision on this site
we would expect an updated survey to support HDC’s case as the position taken is contrary
to the SNP and indeed the needs of the village. The site is referred to as an affordable rented
scheme which is unlikely to be suitable for older, limited income occupiers. If some of the
units were social rented but restricted to over 55 this could provide housing for older people
who cannot meet the affordable rent. All of the development sites in the village include an
affordable percentage in line with government rules. Only this site and the Crosby Farm site
could be considered central to the village, close to the shop, pub and bus stops. For this

Page 20

reason The Cobblers it is the most ideal location for an elderly scheme and that is why the
SNP stated it should remain as such. We would like to see a suggestion as to how HDC
could target this development to the elderly in a practical way i.e. meaningful planning
conditions. We note that the HDC Housing register already has 65 people over the age of 55
expressing a desire to live in Slinfold.
Whilst we appreciate that there may be a housing crisis, we have a number of developments
underway in what is a small village, all with a percentage of affordable housing, meaning the
needs of younger people are being met. On only one of these sites have we asked that it is
age restricted. Without the restriction we have lost 17 flats (which feasibly equates to up to
34 people) catering for what is recognised as the fastest growing demographic in the UK.
We need to ensure that there is adequate provision for the elderly within the heart of the
village and this is what the SNP aimed to do. We oppose the current application for the
reasons previously stated in our response to the application and strongly suggest that Saxon
Weald and Horsham District Council need to revisit the plans for the allocation of housing in
this Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan development.
Initial response: Objection






The application does not mention ‘a focus on the elderly’ as stipulated in the Slinfold
Neighbourhood Plan and does not give a justification for this. The details in the Housing
Needs Survey Report (attached) must be relevant to this application and should be taken
into account for development
The Design and Access Statement mentions a Transport Statement however this is not
included in the documentation
We would like to see a Transport Management Plan to ensure that access to and from
the site is appropriate given the location and is understood
We believe that much more could be made of the outside space.

The Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan also states ‘Proposals include a replacement Scout Hut if
no alternative provision can be made elsewhere’. An alternative site has not been identified.
In view of this The Scouts have confirmed that they would be happy to stay in their current
location but the existing hut is now in desperate need of replacement. We would like to
encourage Saxon Weald, after discussion with The Scouts, to submit a planning application
for a Scout Hut. Once plans are available and the location confirmed The Scouts will be able
to cost the designs and continue their fund raising efforts.
4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENT
Principle of the Development

6.1

The application site is located within the built-up area boundary of Slinfold. The site is
allocated for residential development within the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan 2014-2031
(Policy 10: The Cobblers).

Page 21

6.2

Policy 10 (The Cobblers) of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan (SNP) states residential
development on this site will be supported where:
1. Proposals facilitate the upgrade or replacement of the existing 17 units
2. Proposals demonstrate that special regard has been given to preserving and
enhancing the character of the adjacent Conservation Area
3. A suitable mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet the needs of current and future
households is provided, with a focus on the elderly
4. Proposals allow for the retention of existing mature trees and hedges
5. Proposals include a replacement scout hut if no alternative provision can be made
elsewhere

6.3

The subsequent sections of this report will detail how the proposal has demonstrated to
accord with criterion (1) – (5) of this policy.

6.4

Given the site is located within a built-up area, and its allocation within the SNP, there is no
objection in principle to the development of this site for housing. Consideration must therefore
be given to any site-specific constraints, and the detail of the scheme – including how it
includes a replacement scout hut. As such, the principle of development on the site is
acceptable, subject to the detailed considerations as set out below.
Scout Hut

6.5

The revised proposal now incorporates an area to provide a replacement scout hut, subject
to future reserved matters. The Scouts will fundraise to build the replacement hut
themselves. The Scout leader’s objection pre-dates the inclusion of hut within the application
red line. According to the planning agent, the chairman of the scouts has approved in writing
the proposed plans indicating the size and position of the scout hut. The car park area which
Saxon Weald owns will be resurfaced, including in front of the Scout Hut and the access way
to this. On this basis, your officers consider the proposal to be sufficiently compliant with
criteria 5 of SNP Policy 10.
Housing Density and Mix

6.6

Policy 10 of the SNP does not allocate a housing number for this site. At paragraph 4.9 of
the Examiner’s report, the Examiner agreed with Horsham District Council that the overall
allocation of housing in the Neighbourhood Plan (at some 77 dwellings, toward the upper
end of the identified range of housing need) was in proportion to the scale and size of the
village and its function. Collectively, the allocations will deliver these new housing numbers.

6.7

This application of 12 flats represents a net decrease of five flats when compared to the
existing site use of 17 units. However, given the nature of the housing model being promoted
(100% affordable rent) and the delivery of ground floor 2 bed flats with their own gardens
(compared to the existing situation of occupiers being reliant on communal grounds), this
reduction in overall numbers is considered an acceptable outcome in the delivery of a better
scheme overall. It is also noted the Council’s Landscape Architect initially considered the
layout to be ‘tight’ suggesting a denser scheme would be harmful in townscape terms.

6.8

Policy 6 (Housing Mix) of the SNP supports developments which provide a suitable mix of
one, two, three and four bed dwellings. HDPF Policy 16 states development should provide
a mix of housing sizes, types, and tenures to meet the needs of the district’s communities.

6.9

The proposed mix is for 8 no 1 bed flats and 4 no. 2 bed flats, all for affordable rent. The
Council’s Housing Officer has confirmed this mix broadly accords with the current demand
figures on the Council’s Housing Register for affordable provision. Again, the proposed mix
reflects the nature of the housing model being promoted.

Page 22

Affordable Housing and Elderly Occupation
6.10

For development providing 10 - 14 dwellings, HDPF Policy 16 requires 20% to be affordable
or an equivalent financial contribution where on-site provision is not achievable. The proposal
to provide all 12 units (100%) as affordable rent is more than policy compliant. This offer is
a material consideration that should be afforded significant weight, alongside the
requirements of Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan Policy 10 criteria 3 and its stated objective to
meet the needs of current and future households.

6.11

It is recognised that the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan has identified that this site should
provide a mix of dwelling types and sizes for existing and future households, with a focus on
the elderly, and that there is a strong desire by the Parish Council to restrict the proposed
scheme for residents over the age of 55 similar to the manner in which the previous 17
dwellings on this site were occupied. In support of this desire, a Housing Needs Survey
(dated 2011) conducted by Action in Rural Sussex has been supplied which has identified a
desire for downsizing accommodation and sheltered/extra care accommodation by the 135
households who responded. It is noted that of these respondents, nearly 50% resided in
dwellings of 4 or more bedrooms.

6.12

HDC Housing has confirmed the Horsham District Council Housing Register currently shows
129 applicants wishing to live in Slinfold (although applicants may select as many areas of
the district as they like so there is no indication that these are all first choices). 15 of these
129 applicants have a declared local connection to the area. Of all the applicants wishing to
live in Slinfold, 16 are over the age of 55, and there is only 1 applicant with a declared
connection who is over 55.

6.13

Taking these housing need figures into consideration, your planning officers working
alongside HDC Housing have negotiated with the applicant the following package of
measures to help tailor the accommodation to residents aged 55 years and over:




6.14

Provision of 4 no 2 bed flats and 8 no. 1 bed flats all built to M4(2) standard, to ensure
that the homes are adoptable and accessible for over 55’s.
Provision of wet floor showers in the 4 no. ground floor 1 bed flats, which provide
ease of access for over 55’s.
Prioritisation at first let for over 55’s with a local connection, before cascading out to
other age-groups.

The prioritisation at first let is to be secured in a S106 agreement. It will operate as follows:1. The s106 would require that an appropriate Affordable Rent unit is to be offered in
the first instance to any person(s) over 55 years of age on the HDC Register who can
demonstrate a local connection to the parish of Slinfold.
2. In the event there are no such qualifying persons on the HDC Register on the date
the nominations are to take place, or that any such qualifying person subsequently
rejects an Affordable Rent unit within the normal prescribed period (5 days) and there
is no alternative qualifying person, then the Affordable Rent unit shall be occupied as
normal in accordance with the HDC Nominations policy.
3. All subsequent lets to be in accordance with the HDC Nominations policy with no over
55’s requirement.

6.15

It is important to note that retaining the scheme as general needs affordable accommodation
would not preclude any eligible applicants over the age of 55 wishing to move to the scheme
to be considered. HDC Housing Officers have also advised that they would be unlikely to
support a scheme of this type if it were age restricted as it would not be possible to
demonstrate the need.

Page 23

6.16

Both your Housing and Planning officers consider that, with the above provisions, there is
sufficient adherence to criteria 3 of Policy 10 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan with its
requirement to have ‘a focus on elderly’ occupation, albeit it is accepted that the level of
adherence is somewhat limited given no market housing is being proposed on the site. It is
important to note that there is no requirement in Policy 10 for an over 55’s occupancy
restriction, or for the existing 17 dwellings to be replaced and occupied on a like-for-like basis,
only for there to be a ‘focus’ on elderly provision which can take many forms. Planning
Officers have carefully read the Parish’s Housing Needs Supply survey and consider it mainly
identified a desire from the older population to be able to downsize and remain in the village
from a predominance of dwellings with 4 or more bedrooms, or find sheltered/extra care
housing. This proposal will not provide that specific type of housing, however downsizing
accommodation has come forward elsewhere in the village in the form of 3-bedroom market
dwellings on the development sites at Spring Lane, Crosby Farm and Welwyn Hayes Lane,
with further housing allocated on a site east of Hayes Lane. Furthermore, up to 141 units of
accommodation in the Wellcross Farm Continuing Care Retirement Community scheme
(DC/19/1897 refers) just outside the village, has recently been allowed at appeal. All the units
in this scheme are age restricted to over the age of 55, with 20% secured as affordable to a
housing need and local connection (parish).

6.17

The proposed tailored housing provision is the result of the continued discussions with the
Housing Services Team at the Council. Given the presence of smaller housing in other
developments in the village and the Wellcross Farm approval, there is capacity in the local
area for the elderly to stay local, with this scheme benefiting any local elderly on the Council’s
waiting list, those may in future be on our waiting list, and young wishing to say in the village.
Bringing together all these matters, whilst the proposal is judged to be compliant with SNP
Policies 6 (Housing Mix) and 10 (The Cobblers) to a limited degree, having regard the above
factors it is not considered that the proposals would prevent existing residents of the parish
from being able to downsize or move in future to local sheltered/extra care accommodation.
Heritage, Design and Appearance

6.18

The site lies within the setting of the Slinfold Conservation Area. Chapter 16 of the NPPF
seeks to positively manage changes to the historic environment to ensure sufficient flexibility
whilst conserving the important and irreplaceable nature of the designated asset. HDPF
Policy 34 and Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan Policy 1 require development affecting the setting
of a Conservation Area to reinforce the special character of the district's historic environment.

6.19

The Council’s Conservation Officer is satisfied the existing building has little, if any,
architectural interest and welcomes its replacement, with the proposal designed to better
reflect the palette of materials in the village. The existing building is visible from the
Conservation Area between Stone Cottages and York Cottage when looking south along
The Street and it is judged the replacement building will also be visible from this direction.
The more traditional colours of the proposed building will be less conspicuous and will
improve these long views through the Conservation Area as a result. Therefore SNP Policy
1 and criterion 2 of the SNP Policy 10 is achieved and HDPF Policy 34 is complied with.

6.20

Policy 10 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan (SNP) states development will be supported
where its design responds positively to the prevailing character of the surroundings. Policy
10 must be read in conjunction with SNP Policies 3 Green Infrastructure and 5 Development
Principles and HDPF policies 32 and 33 which state good design is a key element in
development making efficient use of land and integrating effectively with the character of the
surrounding area.

6.21

The development is considered appropriate in terms of how the various components of the
scheme (the two building blocks, the communal and private spaces, and the circulation

Page 24

routes) all respond to and address the street scene, in their massed arrangement across the
development site, and in their proportions and overall scale relative to surrounding built form.
6.22

A contemporary approach has been adopted but this replaces a scheme of the modern era
that is also of its time. A condition is suggested to ensure materials are not unduly dark or
flat in colour to avoid a dull building and are chosen bearing in mind the tradition of the use
of these materials in the area.

6.23

Amendments have also been secured to the communal and circulation spaces that have
addressed issues raised by the Council’s Landscape Architect, including greenery to the car
park. Standard landscape and maintenance and management plan conditions will be
necessary, to be secured by condition.
Trees

6.24

The proposal will result in the removal of a Category U Hawthorn tree that is advised for
removal. The remaining 13 individual trees, 2 groups of trees and 2 hedges can be retained
and protected. Remedial trees works to lift and reduce crown spreads will provide sufficient
space for construction purposes.

6.25

This work, assessed under the Arboricultural Development Statement (prepared by The
Complete Arboricultural Consultancy) with protection measures in accordance with British
Standard, is not considered to be detrimental to the trees and allows for their long term
retention within the development layout. Adherence to the recommendations of the
Statement can be secured by condition.
Amenity Impacts

6.26

HDPF Policy 33 requires development not to cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of the
occupiers/users of nearby properties and land. The Council’s Environment Health Officer
recommends conditions to secure measures, such as a Construction Environmental
Management Plan, in the interests of safeguarding human health and to mitigate
unacceptable amenity impacts during construction and operation phases of the
development. Installation of electric charging points within the development will be the main
measure by which to mitigate and/or offset air quality impacts.
Existing Neighbours

6.27

The most sensitive relationships to existing neighbours are with Cedars to the south and
York Cottage and Stone Cottages to the north.

6.28

Introduction of built form will impact onto these neighbour’s amenities, particularly given the
orientation of the two residential blocks relative to the site boundaries. However, the flanking
orientation of Cedars onto the new development and the separation distance relative to all
existing neighbouring dwellinghouses immediately north and south of the site, is sufficient to
avoid adverse overshadowing and overbearing. Comings and goings from the new dwellings
would be domestic in nature.

6.29

Despite the existing fenestration on the existing buildings on site, an increased propensity
for overlooking and loss of privacy, particularly onto the adjacent dwelling ‘Cedars’, would
arise from the new development. For Cedars, this is due to the introduction of first floor
balconies, and given the fact that the existing first floor fenestration is obliquely angled to the
southern boundary whereas in the current proposal windows would be face on. However,
this proposed glazing mostly serves bedrooms with high level windows only to the primary
living spaces at first floor. The building orientation of the Cedars is such that the principal
outlook of its primary living space is due south or west/east rather than north onto the
application site. The greater part of the private garden of Cedars is due south of the

Page 25

dwellinghouse, with this area laid as lawn and its privacy maintained. There is dense existing
planting along the northern boundary on the neighbour’s side (Cedars) of a height to provide
suitable screening and ensure a suitable level of privacy is maintained.
6.30

In terms of the neighbours to the north, views from the new development is across deep rear
gardens where intervening planting and garden buildings would reduce the intrusiveness of
views into the private living space of these neighbours. There would be some reduction in
privacy, but present overlooking from the existing development and the distances involved
mean the nature of any additional overlooking would not be uncharacteristic of a suburban
environment and as such would not result in unacceptable harm.
Other neighbours

6.31

The siting and orientation of the proposed development onto remaining neighbours would
not give rise to significant overlooking nor would it give rise to conflict through comings and
goings, including from increased use of the car park areas.
Future Occupants

6.32

Each new property benefits from private amenity space and parking. The layout of the
proposed dwellings is appropriate with regards to their impact on each other’s living
conditions. No habitable rooms will be located within a minimum 15 metres of the boundary
of the existing wastewater pumping station, due to the vibration and noise generated by the
pumping station and the potential odour, as requested by Southern Water.
Scout Hut

6.33

The submitted drawings indicate a slightly larger replacement scout hut than existing, with
potentially more capacity. However, the existing scout hut generates noise and disturbance
as well as comings and goings, and the principle of its replacement is considered compatible
with existing and new residential neighbours. The final scale, layout, and appearance of the
scout hut are reserved matters to be considered at this later stage should a final scheme be
forthcoming. Activities from the scout hut and its associated land will be subject to further
detailed assessment at reserved matters stage, with the opportunity available at that stage
of planning to manage potential impacts by condition to safeguard amenities.
Summary on amenity

6.34

With the above in mind, the proposed development is not considered to result in adverse
harm to the amenities of the existing neighbouring and future occupants, in accordance with
HDPF Policy 33.
Highways and Access

6.35

HDPF Policies 40 and 41 require safe and suitable access and a choice of sustainable
transport options and adequate parking facilities to meet the needs of anticipated users.
Access Arrangements

6.36

The existing pedestrian access to and from the application site is to be retained. The two
existing parking spaces for the residents of Stone Cottages will be retained. Existing access
arrangements to the wastewater pumping station to be maintained, as requested by
Southern Water.

6.37

Vehicular access is proposed from the existing access road, which connects to Hayes Lane.
Appropriate parking and turning areas are to be provided. Bus stops are located some 200

Page 26

metres along Lyons Close. In response to the latest proposals, WSCC raise no objection on
highway safety grounds.
Internal Layout and Parking
6.38

The layout allows for sufficient cars to pass refuse collection and fire render vehicles can
enter and turn within site. A total of 23 car parking spaces are proposed, which includes 21
unallocated car spaces, including visitor, and two spaces for Stone Cottages. This total is in
excess of the West Sussex County Council: Guidance on Parking at New Developments,
which is for 18 spaces for this development. Two spaces are designed to accommodate
mobility impaired users. The application sets out that a minimum of 20% of spaces will have
active EV charging facilities and the remaining spaces will be passive. This is a shortfall on
the yearly index guide (33% for 2021) therefore a condition is applied to ensure the
appropriate standard is met. The existing garages will be replaced with 13 marked parking
bays that will be accessed from Greenfield Road. Covered and secure cycle parking will be
provided in various, ground floor locations across the site.
Accessibility and Trip Generation and Road Network Capacity

6.39

Given the proximity of village services and facilities and the bus routes running hourly through
the village, there are opportunities for sustainable transport to be used. The proposed
development of 12 flats represents a net decrease of five flats when compared to the existing
site use. Therefore the volume of traffic generated by the proposal represents a reduction in
impact on the existing access and surrounding road network.
Summary on highway matters

6.40

Taking all the relevant information into consideration including the existing use of the site,
the likely reduction in traffic movements and the on-site parking provision, it is considered
that the proposed development will not have a severe impact on highway capacity or an
unacceptable impact on highway safety so, therefore, is not contrary to the National Planning
Policy Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the
proposal. Officers have no reason to disagree with this conclusion and recommend that the
proposal therefore accords with HDPF Policies 40 and 41.
Ecology

6.41

The submitted Phase 1 Survey of the site was been reviewed, which concluded the site to
be of limited ecological value. No evidence of legally protected and/or notable species were
recorded and habitats on site are negligible to low suitability to support such species. All
buildings and trees on site were considered to have negligible potential to support roosting
bats.

6.42

The Council’s Ecologist is satisfied sufficient ecological information is available for
determination and for the Council to demonstrate compliance with its statutory duties, and
does not object. This is subject to the mitigation measures identified being secured and
implemented in full by condition, as well as additional measures including a Wildlife Sensitive
Lighting Design Scheme.

6.43

The site is within the wider conservation area for The Mens Special Area of Conservation
(SAC). The Council has certainty of likely impacts from the development on European
Protected and Priority Species and as any significant impacts e.g. lighting, or severance of
flightlines has been assessed for impacts on Barbastelle bats and screened out, the
assessment does not need to proceed to HRA Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment.

6.44

The reasonable biodiversity enhancements (installation of bat and bird boxes and native
planting) will result in a net gain for wildlife, secured by condition.

Page 27

Drainage
6.45

A Flood Risk Assessment has been undertaken. Risk from flooding (including groundwater,
sewer, and surface water) is considered low. The site is within the Environment Agency’s
Flood Zone 1, meaning the land is in a ‘low probability’ flood zone.

6.46

Current site drainage discharges into pubic sewers to the rear of the site. The proposal would
result in an increase in impermeable area from the existing situation. However surface water
flow rates will be restricted to a ‘brownfield’ rate of 10l/s. This will be achieved by the roof
and car parking areas draining to cellular attenuation tanks, discharged at a restricted flow
rate via a new manhole construction onto the public sewer to the rear of the site.

6.47

No objection is raised by the drainage authorities, subject to planning conditions, including
an agreement being in place for the ongoing maintenance. Therefore the development can
be satisfactorily accommodated without increasing flood risk elsewhere in accordance with
the NPPF and HDPF Policy 38.
Climate Change

6.48

HDPF Policies 35, 36 and 37 require development mitigates the impacts of climate change,
in reflection of Chapter 14 of the NPPF. The proposal includes the following measures to
address climate change:
 Energy efficient LED lighting (including external lights);
 Use of permeable surfaces and sustainable drainage systems;
 Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity;
 Opportunities for biodiversity gain (as detailed above) and additional planting;
 Cycle parking facilities;
 Provision of electric vehicle charging points

6.49

The Local Planning Authority are satisfied these appropriate measures could be put in place
by way of planning condition and S106 agreement, and implemented to reduce the
development’s impact on climate change.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 Agreement

6.50

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017. This development constitutes CIL liable
development but as a 100% affordable it will not be chargeable.

6.51

A Section 106 Agreement has been drafted to secure the 100% affordable housing
contribution on site with agreed tenure and prescribed first let arrangement. This will be
agreed between the Council’s legal department and the applicant’s solicitors prior to issuing
the decision notice if members are minded to agree with the Officer’s recommendation to
approve the planning application subject to the below planning conditions.
Conclusions

6.52

The Neighbourhood Plan for Slinfold (SNP) was adopted in 2019 and this site allocated for
residential development under SNP Policy 10. In regard to the principle, the proposal for
housing on the site is therefore acceptable. Policy 10 requires that the housing mix for the
site caters for current and future households with a focus on the elderly. As this proposal is
for 100% affordable rent housing the opportunities for providing housing suitable for the
elderly is more limited. In this regard, whilst the proposed s106 mechanism to provide Part
M4(2) accommodation and direct the first allocations to any qualifying older person with a

Page 28

local connection provides some focus on elderly accommodation, it is accepted that the
degree of policy compliance in this regard is limited.

6.53

Your officers acknowledge the scheme is not for the over 55s market housing as desired by
the Parish, and that there will be the loss of 17 age restricted dwellings on this site, however
SNP Policy 10 does not expressly require such an occupancy restriction is required on this
site, or that the existing restrictions should remain in a similar or like-for-like manner. The
need identified within the Parish’s Housing Needs Assessment is primarily for downsizing
accommodation followed by sheltered/extra care accommodation. Having regard to the
proposed S106 mechanism, the accommodation delivered elsewhere in the village suitable
for downsizing, and the future Wellcross Farm extra care scheme, this works in tandem to
offer opportunities for elderly residents to remain in the village. Balanced against this is a
100% affordable rent housing scheme that would provide much needed rental
accommodation for all ages that will greatly help meet the demand on the Housing Register.

6.54

Taken as a whole, the benefit of providing 100% affordable rent accommodation on this site
carries significant weight and is considered by your officers to outweigh the shortfall in
elderly-specific accommodation being provided on the site.

6.55

The submission has demonstrated accordance with the criteria of SNP Policy 10 in its design,
in addition to general compliance with local planning policies, including impact on existing
residential amenity. In having regard to the full detail of the submitted proposal subject to
final agreement on external materials, and the relationship of the site to the Slinfold
Conservation Area, the proposed development would not result in harm to this heritage
asset.

6.56

The Highways Authority is satisfied the site would be safely accessed without harm to the
operational use of the highway network. Appropriate ecological mitigations are agreed by the
Council’s Ecologist. No resultant adverse risks are identified related to drainage of the
scheme.

6.57

Furthermore, the proposal facilitates the replacement of the existing Scout hut and
associated car park of a design, use, layout and floorplate scale that is satisfactory and does
not give rise to adverse amenity harm. The timely provision of this secured in Reserved
Matters by this permission is considered a significant community benefit.

6.58

Officers therefore recommend that this application be approved, subject to the below detailed
list of planning conditions and the completion of the necessary s106 legal agreement.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve full planning permission, subject to the following conditions:
Conditions:

1

Standard Plans Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

2

Regulatory Condition: The development shall be implemented as two separate phases, in
accordance with approved drawing 020 Proposed Site Plan Phase 1 & 2 - and the
development shall thereafter be implement in accordance with the approved Phasing plan to
comprise:-

Page 29




Phase 1 (housing and associated land)
Phase 2 (Scout hut and associated land)

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to
comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
3

Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development within Phase 1 hereby permitted (which
for the avoidance of doubt excludes the scout hut and its associated land within Phase 2),
shall be commenced before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
The development of the scout hut and associated land within Phase 2 shall be commenced
before the expiration of two years from the approval of the last reserved matters as defined
in condition 4.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

4

Outline Permission:
(a)
Approval of the details of the layout of the development, the scale of each building,
the appearance of each building, access to and within the site and the landscaping
of the development within Phase 2 (hereinafter called “the reserved matters”) shall
be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development is
commenced.
(b)
Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition (a) above,
relating to the layout of the development, the scale of each building, the appearance
of each building, access to and within the site and the landscaping of the development
within Phase 2, shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall
be carried out as approved.
(c)
Application for approval of the reserved matters pursuant to Phase 2 shall be made
to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 5 years from the date of this
permission.
(d)
The development hereby permitted within Phase 2 shall be begun either before the
expiration of 5 years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of 2
years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved,
whichever is the later.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail
and to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development within each Phase shall take place,
including any works of demolition, until a Construction Environmental Management Plan has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority for that Phase.
The approved Plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan shall
provide for:
a. An indicative programme for carrying out of the works
b. The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction works
c. Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the construction
process to include hours of work, proposed method of piling for foundations if required,
the careful selection of plant and machinery and use of noise mitigation barrier(s) if
required for specific tasks.
d. Details of any floodlighting, including location, height, type and direction of light sources
and intensity of illumination
e. the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during construction,
f. the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction,
g. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
h. loading and unloading of plant and materials
i. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development

Page 30

j.

the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate
k. wheel washing facilities
l. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
m. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works.
A licensed waste removal contractor shall remove all site clearance debris, demolition and
construction waste from site including all asbestos waste (if any).
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area, ecological and
biodiversity interests, and in accordance with Policies 24, 33 and 40 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015) and Policy 4 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.
6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development within a Phase shall commence until a
drainage strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that Phase. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development within a Phase shall commence until a
detailed surface water drainage scheme including a Surface Water Drainage Statement,
based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and
hydrogeological context of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority for that Phase. The submitted details shall be fully
coordinated with the landscape scheme. The development shall subsequently be
implemented prior to first occupation in accordance with the approved details and thereafter
retained as such.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve
and protect water quality, improve habitat and amenity, and ensure future maintenance in
accordance Policies 35 and 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Pre-Commencement Condition: Prior to the commencement of development within a
Phase approved by this planning permission (or such other date or stage in development as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following components of a
scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination, including asbestos
contamination, of that Phase and extant structures shall each be submitted to and approved,
in writing, by the local planning authority:
a)
A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
 all previous uses
 potential contaminants associated with those uses
 a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
 potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
b)
A site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
c)
The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (b) and, based on
these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.
d)
A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in (c) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action where required.

Page 31

Any changes to these components require the express consent of the local planning
authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
9

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development within a Phase other than works of
demolition and site clearance and ecology works shall commence until precise details of the
existing and proposed finished floor levels and external ground levels of the development in
relation to nearby datum points adjoining the application site have been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The development shall be completed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the interests
of amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015) and Policy 5 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

10

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development within a Phase other than works of
demolition and site clearance and ecology works shall commence until full details of
underground services, including locations, dimensions and depths of all service facilities and
required ground excavations for that Phase, have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority in writing. The submitted details shall show accordance with the
landscaping proposals and the Arboricultural Development Statement by The Complete
Arboricultural Consultancy Dec 2020 CBA11286 v1. The development shall thereafter be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to the acceptable delivery of this permission, to
ensure the underground services do not conflict with satisfactory landscaping in the interests
of amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015)

11

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of each Phase of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a
schedule of materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows and
roofs of the approved building(s) within that Phase has been submitted to and approved by
the Local Planning Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the
development hereby permitted shall conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve buildings of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015) and Policy 5 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

12

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level within Phase 1 of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement
Strategy shall include the following: a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed
enhancement measures; b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives; c) locations of
proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans; d) persons responsible
for implementing the enhancement measures; e) details of initial aftercare and long-term
maintenance (where relevant). The works shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the
Local Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority

Page 32

habitats & species) and Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and
Policy 4 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

13

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
within each Phase hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works for
that Phase shall have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning
Authority. The details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:





Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained in the approved Arboricultural
Development Statement by The Complete Arboricultural Consultancy
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
Details of all boundary treatments

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of
that Phase of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved
landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted,
felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local Planning
Authority until 5 years after completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which
within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the
Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and
townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of visual amenity
in accordance with Policies 31 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015)
and Policies 3 and 5 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.
14

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to occupation of the development within Phase 1, a
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be
approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior occupation of the development.
The content of the LEMP shall include the following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions.
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled
forward over a five-year period).
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the
long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management
body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from
monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the
development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally
approved scheme. The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and Policy 31 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015) and Policy 4 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 33

15

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, the necessary inbuilding physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to enable superfast
broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre broadband connection shall
be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted within a Phase, a verification report demonstrating that the SuDS drainage
system has been constructed in accordance with the approved design drawings shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
maintained in accordance with the approved report.
Reason: To ensure a SuDS drainage system has been provided to an acceptable standard
to the reduce risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, improve habitat and
amenity, and ensure future maintenance in accordance Policies 35 and 38 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

17

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling shall be first occupied until means for the charging
of electric vehicles by way of fast charging points have been installed in accordance with
details that have been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The details shall have regard to the latest WSCC Parking Standards and the
Council’s latest Air Quality & Emissions Reduction Guidance document and include a plan
of all charging points, their specification, means of allocation, and means for their long term
maintenance. The means for charging electric vehicles shall be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for
pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

18

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any building within a Phase
hereby permitted, the parking, turning and access facilities necessary to serve that building
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved drawings and shall be thereafter
retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to serve
the development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

19

Pre-Occupation Condition: No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the cycle
parking facilities serving that building have been provided within the side or rear garden or
purpose built communal facility for that building. The cycle parking facilities shall thereafter
be retained as such for their designated use at all times.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles as an alternative
travel option to the use of the car in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

20

Pre-Occupation Condition: No building within a Phase hereby permitted shall be first
occupied unless and until provision for the storage of refuse/recycling has been made for
that building in accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at all
times.

Page 34

Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of recycling facilities in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
21

Regulatory Condition: Prior to the installation of any external lighting within each phase, a
lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are particularly
sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for
foraging; and show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision
of appropriate lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and technical specifications) so that it
can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their
territory.
The scheme must also be designed by a suitably qualified person in accordance with the
recommendations for environmental zone E2 in the Institute of Lighting Professional’s
Guidance document “Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2020.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set
out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no
circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act
1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species), and in
accordance with Policies 31 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and
Policy 4 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

22

Regulatory Condition: All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be
carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Phase I Ecological Survey
(Ecosupport Ltd, October 2019), as already submitted and agreed in principle with the Local
Planning Authority prior to determination. This may include the appointment of an
appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) to provide on-site
ecological expertise during construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities,
and works shall be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006
(Priority habitats & species) and Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015) and Policy 4 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

23

Regulatory Condition: All works shall be executed in full accordance with the Arboricultural
Development Statement by The Complete Arboricultural Consultancy Dec 2020 Ref:
CBA11286 v1.
Reason: To ensure the successful and satisfactory protection of important trees, shrubs and
hedges on the site in accordance with Policies 30 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015) and Policy 3 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

24

Regulatory Condition: The dwellings hereby permitted shall meet the optional requirement
of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres per person
per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the sustainability
of the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

Page 35

25

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 36

ADDENDUM
Planning Committee North: 3 August 2021
AGENDA ITEMS 6 (DC/20/2578) and 7 (DC/21/0685)
Revised National Planning Policy Framework
The revised National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPFF’) came into force on 20 July 2021. The
new NPPF does not contain any material changes that alters the recommendations set out in the
agenda items. New NPPF paragraph references are noted on the items, set out below:Both items refer to para 109 (refusing a development on highway grounds only if unacceptable
impact on highway safety or severe cumulative impact on road network). This is now para 111 of
the July NPPF.
Item 7 refers to para 127 (ensuring developments conform to good practice urban design principles).
This is now para 130 of the July NPPF.

AGENDA ITEM 6 - DC/20/2578
The Cobblers, Hayes Lane, Slinfold
Updated HDC Housing Register figures
HDC Housing has provided an update on the original housing register figures provided as part of
their planning response in February. As a consequence, the number of applicants over the age of
55 wanting to live in Slinfold is now much lower than the 65 figure provided in February:


165 applicants who have Slinfold as a preferred area of choice (what is used to show the
demand for an area), 13 with a specified local connection.
13 over the age of 55 with Slinfold as a preferred area of choice, 3 over 55s with a specified
local connection.

Anyone wishing to join the Horsham District Council housing register must have a general
connection to the Horsham District, usually having lived here for the last 2 years, or in permanent
employment in the District for the last 9 out of 12 months. The local connection to Slinfold is then on
top of that, and HDC Housing would either look for people already living in the area, or having direct
family relatives living in the area.

Page 37

Parking for Scout Hut and Updated WSCC Local Highway Authority Consultation
Since the committee report was published, your officers have negotiated with the applicant Saxon
Weald on parking provision for the Scout hut, and an updated WSCC Local Highway Authority (LHA)
consultation has been received in response.
Most trips to/from the Scout hut will be drop off/pick up trips so there would be no need to park for
an extended time. However the Scout Leaders/staff will require somewhere to park, as well as some
Scouts having their own mini bus that requires parking.
Presently, the terms of the lease allow the Scouts legal right to access and for the area in front of
the Scout hut to be used by the Scouts. The new plans do not change this access and configuration.
Additionally, Saxon Weald have agreed to allow the scouts to have access to the two visitor spaces
of the residential scheme and permits for use on a first come first served basis.
Previously the LHA confirmed no objection, subject to a query raised over the parking strategy for
the site, with reference to the parking at the rear of the site off of Greenfield Road. The LHA has
since confirmed the scheme provides adequate parking allocation for the residential dwellings.
In terms of the Scout hut, the LHA does not agree that use of the visitor spaces alone is acceptable,
as there is no guarantee these spaces will be available in the evening when most residents are
home and may have visitors, at the same time as the Scout Hut would be operational.
However, the area for outline planning permission for the new Scout Hut can secure parking for the
sole use of the Scouts at a later date. This would make clear how the residential parking/turning
area and Scout Hut can be catered for as a whole. There appears space in front of the new storage
area for the Scout hut to provide designated spaces. The development would not meet the WSCC
thresholds for a Travel Plan or Travel Plan Statement.
Provided a couple of parking spaces are secured outside the Scout hut storage area, so long as this
does not interfere with access, the LHA does not consider that the proposal would have an
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of
the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the NPPF, and there are no transport grounds to
resist the proposal.
The Slinfold Scout Group Chairman has confirmed that parking arrangements are in accordance
with the terms of their lease.
Officer comment:
Your officers believe the negotiated solution protects and maintains the current Scout operations
whilst also enabling use of the two additional visitor spaces. This represents a betterment upon the
existing situation. The Local Highway Authority is satisfied that this provision, within a parking
strategy for the site secured by the conditions listed below, ensures the Scout Hut could be suitably
accessed for its immediate servicing and parking needs, and it is therefore not reasonable to refuse
permission.


Condition 18 be amended to:-

18
Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any building within Phase 1
hereby permitted, the parking, turning and access facilities necessary to serve that building shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved drawings and shall be thereafter retained as such for
their designated use.

Page 38

Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to serve the
development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).


Insertion of new condition:-

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any building within Phase 2 hereby
permitted, the parking, turning and access facilities necessary to serve that building shall be
implemented in accordance with a strategy plan and drawings to be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be thereafter retained as such for their designated
use. The strategy plan shall include measures to enable the scouts to have access to the two visitor
spaces of the residential scheme and permits for use on a first come first served basis.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to serve the
development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).


Condition 19 be amended to:

19
Pre-Occupation Condition: No building within Phase 1 hereby permitted shall be occupied
until the cycle parking facilities serving those buildings within Phase 1 have been provided within
the side or rear garden or purpose built communal facility for that building. No building within Phase
2 hereby permitted shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking spaces have been
provided in accordance with plans and details submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority. The cycle parking facilities shall thereafter be retained as such for their designated use at
all times.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles as an alternative travel
option to the use of the car in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

End

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

06) DC/20/2578
The Cobblers, Hayes Lane, Slinfold
Old Telephone Exchange

¯

The
For
Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
Candleford

Barn

The
Old Dairy

TTS

LYONS C
L

ottage
York C

10 11

5

7

6

13

4

Sto
Cotta ne
g es

2

ds

2

Padora Nibletts

1

3

4

1

15

OSE

GP

Slinfold

Woodla
n

OAD

YARD

El Sub Sta

Jackdaws

R
LYONS

16

NIBL
E

32.8m

12

The
Granary

Birchwood

1 to 17

The Cobblers
8

2

17

RO
AD
20

Arundale

Tel
Ex
1

1

HAYES LANE

Aptos

B an k

16a

3a

Rosary
Cottage

1

Willow

5

Cedars

WAY

13

ES
T

GREEN FIE
LD

W

1

Homelea

11

13

19

Felsted
STREETFIELD ROAD

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

22/07/2021

Page 41MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

09 August 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Demolition of existing farm buildings and erection of 5 dwellings, creation
of new access and associated landscaping and parking

SITE:

Holly Farm Winterpit Lane Mannings Heath West Sussex

WARD:

Nuthurst and Lower Beeding

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0685

APPLICANT:

Name: Concept Developments Address: C/O Agent

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

This application proposes five new residential dwellings with associated landscaping,
parking and access, following the demolition of the existing farm buildings on the site. The
properties will incorporate features such as gable, projecting feature bay windows,
casement windows, traditional face brickwork with contrasting brick detailing; stone cills,
tile hanging and timber frame porches. The properties would have varying external finishes
including red multi facing brickwork and clay hanging tiles and red clay roof tiles with
projecting timber tiled entrance canopies. All properties will have traditional white Cottage
style UPVC windows with flat arched brick window heads in contracting colour. The
proposed residential dwellings are made up of the following:

1.3

Plot 1
1x detached two-storey two bedroomed home. This property would sit at the front of the
site to the east of the new access road and be duel aspect to provide a frontage to
Winterpit Lane and the new access road. The property would have an east facing garden
measuring 136m2, two parking spaces including a car port and have a Gross Internal floor
Area (GIA) of 89.94m2.

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 43

Tel:

1.4

Plot 2
1x detached two- storey three bedroomed home. This property would be situated on the
east side of the access road to the south of plot 1 (with an adjoining car port). The property
would have an east facing garden measuring 156m2, two parking spaces including a car
port and have a GIA of 103.54m2.

1.5

Plot 3
1 x detached 4- bedroomed chalet bungalow. This property sits to the rear of the site
occupying the entire southern section of the site. The chalet bungalow would have a ridge
height of 7.3 metres with all four bedrooms situated in the roofspace. The property would
have a large south facing garden measuring 604m2, two parking spaces plus a detached
garage, and have a GIA of 223 m2.

1.6

Plot 4
1x detached two- storey three bedroomed home. This property sits on the west side of the
access road to the rear of plot 5 (with adjoining carport). The property would have a west
facing garden measuring 182m2, two parking spaces including a car port and have a GIA
of 103.54 m2

1.7

Plot 5
1x detached two- storey three bedroomed home. This property would sit at the front of the
site to the west of the new access road and be duel aspect to provide a frontage to
Winterpit Lane and the new access road. The property would have a west facing garden
measuring 155m2, two parking spaces including a car port and have a Gross Internal floor
Area (GIA) of 104.85m2.

1.8

Cycle storage and bin storage are provided within the rear gardens or each property. A
new access is proposed into the site from Winterpit Land as well as a new access into the
adjacent farmland of Forest Farm on the western boundary.

1.9

Much of the existing boundary treatment is to be retained but where this is not possible,
replacement planting will be carried out and secured via a condition.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.10

The application site comprises a parcel of land measuring approximately 0.3 hectares to
the south of Winterpit Lane within the built-up area boundary of Mannings Heath. The site
includes dilapidated farm buildings and areas of trees and bushes. Open fields lie adjacent
to the site to the west with detached houses to the north. The site is adjacent to a row of
former farm/commercial buildings that have since been converted to a residential dwelling
(Hathaways). Approximately 45m to the north of the application site is the High Weald Area
of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

1.11

The site is allocated for residential development in the 'made' Nuthurst Parish
Neighbourhood Plan 2015-2031 and the allocated site forms Policy 3 of the Plan.

1.12

The built grain of Mannings Heath comprises a mixture of two storey houses and more
modest bungalows. The residential form is interspersed with mature vegetation and trees
and the surrounding properties occupy reasonably generous plots. There is no dominant
style of property with a variety of characterful properties in evidence. The area does
however, have a strong semirural feel and is characterised by largely detached properties
occupying generous irregularly sized plots.

Page 44

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Nuthurst Parish Neighbourhood Plan:
Policy 3 - Land at Holly Farm, Mannings Heath
Policy 10 - Housing Design
Nuthurst Parish Design Statement

2.2

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/20/1645

Demolition of existing farm buildings and erection of
5 dwellings with associated landscaping, parking and
access.

Application Refused on
23.10.2020

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Environmental Health:
Conditions recommended in relation to Preliminary Risk Assessment/ Site Investigations
Chemical Testing.

3.3

HDC Drainage Engineer:
If this development is permitted I would recommend imposing the following Condition;
MD17 Drainage Strategy (Foul and Surface Water).

3.4

HDC Arboricultural Officer:
No Objection.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

Page 45

3.5

WSCC Highways:
Access
The proposed plans demonstrate that the existing access will be closed off. This will need
to be reinstated to verge, in agreement with, and subject to a licence from, WSCC. The
proposed new access will take the form of a bellmouth junction with 6m radii and a 4.8m
road width. These works will be subject to a Section 278 agreement with WSCC, details
provided below.
The applicant has confirmed that the telecommunications pole within the proposed access
area will be relocated and this has been acknowledged on the plans. The proposed
relocation works would be required to be carried out at the applicant's own expense.
The Transport Statement indicates that vehicular trips associated with the proposal will not
have a negative impact upon the capacity of the road network, or result in a severe
intensification of use of the site over the existing use.
Visibility
Discussions have occurred between Paul Basham Associates on behalf of the applicant
and the LHA prior to submission of the current application. The issue of land ownership has
been resolved, a topographical survey of the area was conducted by the applicant and a
plan of the proposed access and visibility arrangements has been submitted,
demonstrating the width of the verge overlaid with the existing Highway Boundary. The
LHA has accepted a 2m X distance in this location, given the road context, and the plan
demonstrates that visibility splays of 2m x 43m are achievable in both directions, utilising
land considered to be publicly maintained highway. As such, visibility splays meet the
minimum Stopping Sight Distance set out in Manual for Streets for a 30mph road.
Parking and turning
The proposed plans demonstrate that 12 parking spaces will be provided for the proposal.
Plots 1, 2, 4 and 5 will be provided with 2 spaces each in the form of a single car port and
single external space each. Plot 3 will be provided with two external parking spaces and
one garage space. Two visitor parking spaces will be provided on an unallocated basis.
The LHA is satisfied that the proposed parking provision is sufficient for the proposal. Each
parking space meets minimum requirements as set out in Manual for Streets. Swept path
tracking has been demonstrated for each plot and this demonstrates that there is sufficient
space on site for each vehicle to turn and exit onto the public highway in a forward gear.
Servicing
The provided plans demonstrate via swept path tracking that a refuse vehicle can safely
enter the site, turn within the proposed turning head and exit the site in a forward gear. This
would also provide sufficient space for a fire appliance to service each dwelling in an
emergency.
Sustainability
The site is located within a semi-rural area and as such residents of the proposed dwellings
will likely be reliant upon the private vehicles for the majority of daily trips. However secure
and covered cycle parking is proposed for each dwelling - in the rear gardens of plots 1, 2,
4 and 5, and within the garage of Plot 3 - to encourage sustainable transport methods and
reduce the reliance upon the private car.
In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government’s ‘Road to Zero’ strategy
for at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV)
charging points should be provided for all new homes. Active EV charging points should be
provided for the development in accordance with current EV sales rates within West
Sussex (Appendix B of WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments) and Horsham
Local Plan policy. Ducting should be provided to all remaining parking spaces to provide
‘passive’ provision for these to be upgraded in future.

Page 46

Conclusion
The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph
109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
If the LPA are minded to approve the application, the following conditions and informatives
should be applied: Access to be provided prior to first occupation, Access Closure, car
parking space as approved, turning space, cycle parking, EV Charging, Works within the
highway and Telecoms pole.
3.6

Ecology Consultant:
We have reviewed the Updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (Wychwood
Environmental, May 2020) supplied by the applicant, relating to the likely impacts of
development on Protected & Priority habitats and species and identification of
proportionate mitigation. We have also reviewed the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (The
Ecology Partnership, 2017), the Badger Survey Report (Wychwood Environmental,
November 2019) and the Badger Sett Closure Letter (July 2020) submitted with a previous
planning application on this site - DC/20/1645.
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for determination.
We support the reasonable biodiversity enhancements that will deliver measurable net gain
should also be secured by a condition on any consent. This will enable the LPA to
demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its biodiversity duty under s40
NERC Act 2006.
The mitigation measures identified in the Updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report
(Wychwood Environmental, May 2020) should be secured and implemented in full. This is
necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species. As mentioned in the
Updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (Wychwood Environmental, May 2020),
the mitigation measures included for bats, great crested newts, hazel dormice, reptiles and
breeding birds should be collated in a Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy
and secured as a condition of any consent. We note that the Badger Survey Report
submitted with DC/20/1645 identified an annex sett onsite. The Badger Sett Closure Letter
(July 2020) identified that further monitoring had been undertaken, and the sett was
inactive according to Natural England guidelines and subsequently closed without a
licence. However, given the dynamic nature of badgers, we recommend that an additional
walkover is undertaken, no less than 6 months prior to the start of works, to assess if any
badgers have recolonised the site. This should be included in the Biodiversity Mitigation
and Enhancement Strategy and secured by a condition of any consent.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the conditions
below based on BS42020:2013. In terms of biodiversity net gain, the enhancements
proposed will contribute to this aim.
Submission for approval and implementation of the details below should be a condition of
any planning consent: Ecological Appraisal Actions/ Biodiversity Mitigation and
Enhancement Strategy/ Wildlife Lighting Design Scheme

3.7

Southern Water:
No Objections.

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

Page 47

3.8

Nuthurst Parish Council
The Parish Council supports this application in principle because it complies with the main
requirement of the NP to provide primarily 2 and 3 bedroomed semi-detached and
detached houses. However, the Parish Council has serious concerns about some aspects
of the proposal and asks HDC to consider these concerns in consultation with the
appropriate authorities as follows:
1) The proposed development extends outside of the Built-up Area Boundary (BuAB) for
Mannings Heath as shown in the above diagram in contravention of policy 3 of the NP.
This can easily be rectified by HDC asking the applicant to submitting a new plan with
the site boundary to the west aligning precisely with the BUAB, since this sliver of land
is not required for the development and should not be part of the development site.
2) Although the proposal meets the requirement to provide primarily small houses, there is
concern that the houses might be extended in the future. HDC is asked to place a
condition on any approval that removes permitted development rights.
3) The gate providing access to the field to the west of the site is unnecessary as there is
already an access gate to this field from Winterpit Lane. HDC is asked to require the
applicant to remove this gate.
4) HDC considers asking the applicant to reconfigure the chalet bungalow to further
reduce the potential impact on “Hathaways”.
5) HDC consults its Arboricultural Officer regarding the retention of existing trees and
planting of new trees on the eastern boundary to ensure that the existing properties to
the east are adequately screened from the new development.
6) HDC consults its own ecologist and Natural England to make sure adequate mitigation
measures are taken to protect the badgers that are present on the site.
7) HDC consults West Sussex County Council Highways regarding whether the on-site
parking provision is sufficient or not in order to avoid dangerous parking on Winterpit
Lane.

3.9

30 Representations have been received from 26 local Households, many of which support
the principle of development here due to the allocation in the Neighbourhood Plan but
object to the following:
















Any new development should not extend outside the Built Up Area Boundary.
On site parking is insufficient for the number of properties planned.
Overspill of parking should not be allowed on Winterpit Lane which is too narrow to
cope with such parking as it is a busy lane with no pavement and is used by
pedestrians, cyclists, and horse riders as well as traffic which will create a danger
for all
Access to the site will be very tight (too narrow) which also creates a danger to all
users of the lane.
PD should be removed to avoid impact on amenity of closest residentsoutbuildings. Extensions and the conversion of garages/ car ports.
No parking on Winterpit Lane during construction
When blocking up existing access this should not interfere with visibility splays for
adjacent driveway.
Mistakes in the submission in relation to the nearest shop/ footpaths/ street lighting
Loss of wildlife
Insufficient screening on the eastern boundary
Unnecessary wide access to adjacent field- fear of future development
Overlooking to Greenwood from plot 2
Pattern of development out of character with the area
Overdevelopment

One letter of support was received.

Page 48

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of Development

6.1

Holly Farm is situated within the Built Up Area Boundary of Mannings Heath. Mannings
Heath is defined as a ‘Smaller Village’ in Policy 3 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (HDPF) which states that development will be permitted within towns and
villages which have defined built-up areas. Any infilling and redevelopment will be required
to demonstrate that it is of an appropriate nature and scale to maintain characteristics and
function of the settlement in accordance with the settlement hierarchy.

6.2

Although the principle of development on this site has been accepted by the allocation of
the site for housing development within the Neighbourhood Plan, for the development to be
acceptable it is required to conform with the core requirements of the policy:
The residential development of 0.3 Ha of land at Holly Farm, Winterpit Lane, Mannings
Heath, as shown on the Policies Map as lying within the Built-Up Area Boundary, will be
permitted provided that:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

6.3

6.4

built development is limited to the area comprising the derelict barns and shrubs and
does not extend beyond the rear building line of the adjacent property to the east;
the scheme comprises primarily 2 and 3 bedroom semi-detached or detached
houses;
access is made to the scheme from one point only on to Winterpit Lane; and
the scheme layout and landscape proposals retain the screen of trees and bushes
fronting Winterpit Lane and those on the east and west boundaries

The previous application on this site for five houses was refused in 2020 for three reasons.
Two of these related to the Neighbourhood Plan policy requirements and the proposals
failure to meet these. The two reasons for refusal were:
1.

The development would provide dwellings which would fail to be appropriately sized to
meet the identified housing needs of the Parish for smaller two and three bedroomed
properties. The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy 3 of the Nuthurst
Neighbourhood Plan (2015) and Policy 42 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

2.

The development would encroach beyond the defined built-up area boundary of
Mannings Heath and would therefore be contrary to Policy 3 of the Nuthurst
Neighbourhood Plan (2015) and Policy 3 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

It is considered that this new application has now addressed these concerns and the
principle of the development is now acceptable for the reasons outlined below.

Page 49

6.5

The dwellings proposed in the previously refused scheme were much larger and although
labelled ‘two and three bedroomed dwellings’ their Gross Floor Area was more in line with
6 bedroomed/ 8 person dwellings when considered against the national space standards.
This was not considered to be appropriate in this location where the site has specifically
been allocated to secure smaller homes that would be more affordable for downsizers or
first time buyers. The properties also included home offices that could easily have been
used as bedrooms and would make the properties less affordable than a conventional two
or three bedroomed property as envisaged in the Neighbourhood Plan.

6.6

This re-submission now addresses these concerns and proposes properties of a much
more appropriate size and scale. The two and three bedroomed properties to the front of
the site range from 89.94 square metres GIA to 104 and do not include home offices in
their design. The larger bungalow to the rear of the site has four bedrooms and a larger
GIA of 220 square metres. Whilst it is acknowledged that this is a larger property, it is
considered that there is flexibility in this regard due to the wording of the Neighbourhood
Plan policy which states ‘primarily’ 2 and 3 bedroom houses which this proposal does
comply with. In addition, when weighed against the benefits of not having a taller twostorey property at the back of the site (discussed at paragraph 6.17), this is considered to
be an acceptable solution to the mix of dwellings on the site.

6.7

The area for residential development is restricted by this policy to the Built Up Area
Boundary (BUAB). The proposal includes an area of land outside of the BUAB within the
plot boundary of number 3 by around 2.5 metres along the length of the western boundary.
The applicants state that the reason for this is that the BUAB is actually drawn on the
wrong side of the existing hedge and excludes some of this site that naturally should fall
within it. Officers consider this to be a minor incursion outside of the defined boundary and
that some discretion should be used here. Furthermore, aerial photography mapping of the
site does indicate a clear difference in character to the area within the application site (as
defined by the red outlined area) and the area outside of the application site consisting of a
field, which would suggest that the built up area line has not been plotted accurately.

6.8

This would not mean that other development should be allowed outside of the boundary
and no built form is proposed within this area. A condition is recommended removing the
Permitted Development rights for outbuildings to be erected within the residential curtilage
of Plot 3 (Class E).

6.9

With the above in mind, it is considered that this application complies with the Nuthurst
Neighbourhood Plan Policy 3 requirements for the development of the site and the HDPF.
The principle of development is therefore acceptable.
Design Character and Appearance

6.10

Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the HDPF promote development that protects, conserves and
enhances the landscape character from inappropriate development. Proposal should take
into account landscape characteristics, with development seeking to provide an attractive,
functional and accessible environment that complements the locally distinctive character of
the district. Buildings should contribute to a sense of place, and should be of a scale,
massing, and appearance that is of a high standard or design and layout which relates
sympathetically to the landscape and built surroundings.

6.11

Policy 10 of the Nuthurst Parish Neighbourhood Plan (NPNP) states that the scale, density,
massing, height, landscape design, layout and materials of all development proposals,
including alterations to existing buildings, will be required to reflect the architectural and
historic character and scale of surrounding buildings. Residential development proposals
should make use of high quality building materials and finishes, and include adequate
functional private garden space appropriate to dwelling size and type.

Page 50

6.12

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that
developments function well and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive
as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are
sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and
landscape setting; establish a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets,
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places
to live, work and visit; optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an
appropriate amount and mix of development; and create places that are safe, inclusive and
accessible.

6.13

The submitted details indicate that the properties will take their design cues from the
character and scale of the existing development within the surrounding area. The
surrounding buildings are an eclectic mix of 4 large detached houses to the north, a pair of
semi-detached cottages to the north west, a barn conversion to the east and a detached
house and pair of semis to the north east. A natural materials pallet is proposed including
red multi bricks, red roof tiles, some tile cladding, timber and tiled entrance canopy, stone
cills, gables and projecting bays.

6.14

The properties are situated within amble plots from attractive open frontages and
landscaped gardens visible to the public. The layout of the development in a small cul-desac with a turning circle will create an attractive and welcoming streetscene and the rear
garden to plot 3, being larger and more open in nature will help to contribute towards the
rural open landscape character of the rear of the site.

6.15

Overall, the proposed layout, scale, design, and massing of the proposed dwellings are
considered to reflect the build pattern and characteristics of the street scene and wider
locality. The proposal is considered to relate sympathetically to the townscape character,
and is therefore considered to accord with Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
Neighbour and Future Occupier Amenity Impacts

6.16

Policy 33 states that development should consider the scale, massing and orientation
between buildings, respecting the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties. It
states that permission will be granted for development that does not cause unacceptable
harm to the amenity of the occupiers/users of nearby properties and land.

6.17

Concern has been raised in relation to the impact of the development on the two closest
neighbours at ‘Hathaways’ and at Greenwood (labelled Seamans Farm on the OS map)
both situated to the east of the site. The previous application (DC/20/1685) was refused for
three reasons, two of which were discussed above under the Principle of development
(reason 1 and 3). The third reason was the unacceptable impact on the amenity
‘Hathaways’ by virtue of loss of light and outlook.

6.18

Previously a two-storey property was to be located approximately 2 metres from the
boundary with Hathaways and 3.7 metres from their flank wall, resulting in significant loss
of light to the only window in a bedroom. This new application has sought to remove this
unacceptable impact by locating a chalet bungalow to the rear of the site in line with
Hathaways. This has significantly reduced the impact on this property and moved the
dwelling to 6.5 metres from the boundary and 8.25 metres from their flank wall. Although
there may be some loss of sunlight late in the day when the sun sets this is considered to
be unlikely to cause any substantial harm or overbearing to the amenity of the property and
the separation distance are considered to be acceptable.

6.19

It is noted that concern has been raised form the neighbours at ‘Greenwood’ the property
on Winterpit Lane adjacent to the site to the east. The main concern is loss of privacy

Page 51

owing to the easterly facing rear windows to the first floor of plot 2 of the development site
and a potentially uninterrupted view into their dwelling.
6.20

The distance between the upper floors of the dwelling proposed at plot 2 and ‘Greenwood’
are 21 metres, which is in-line with design guidance. Within this 21 metres sits a private
garden, at least two existing trees that are proposed to be retained on the eastern
boundary, a 2 metres high Close Boarded fence, access road to Hathaways, another close
boarded fence and then approximately 7 metres to the first floor flank wall. Extra planting is
also proposed along the eastern boundary in front of the fence and a landscaping plan is a
requirement of a condition proposed to this application. It is therefore recommended that
fast growing and mature specimens are required to be planted along the eastern boundary
to mitigate against the loss of the three trees proposed to be removed here and to further
screen the development. Due to the separation distance of 21 metres, this is considered to
adequately address the neighbour’s concerns here.

6.21

With regard to the proposed dwellings, the development would provide five generously
sized properties with adequate room sizes, natural light and ventilation throughout. They
would be provided with adequate amenity space, parking and each property would have
side access to the rear garden.

6.22

In addition, due to the history of the site (redundant farm buildings) a contamination
condition is recommended to ensure that any future occupiers are not put at risk by any
potential contaminants which may be present on site as a result of the past uses.
Highways Impact

6.23

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate
access, suitable for all users.

6.24

The applicants have consulted independently prior to this application being received in
relation to access and highways matters to achieve an acceptable scheme in relation to the
new access point, turning circle and parking provision.

6.25

The Local Highways Authority have confirmed that the proposal would have no
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in severe cumulative impacts on the
operation of the highway network and that there are therefore no highways grounds to
refuse the application.

6.26

The application proposes a total of 12.5 parking spaces across the site including 0.5 of a
space for the proposed garage at plot 3 and two visitor spaces. This is in conformity with
the West Sussex parking standards which calculate to be 11 spaces. A number of
objectors have referred to the Parking Demand Calculator and stated that this results in a
higher requirement and therefore the site is not providing adequate parking. However this
is not the case. The Parking Demand Calculator is an additional tool for calculating the
expected parking provision, which can be referred to, however, this is intended for much
larger developments and often produces a much higher expected parking provision for
smaller developments than is practical or reasonable. Whilst the concerns regarding
potential overspill onto Winterpit Lane are understood, officers are also required to balance
that with ensuring that there is not over-provision of spaces, as this can have other
negative impacts such as encouraging transport by private vehicles rather than promoting
sustainable transport methods. With this in mind there is not considered to be a shortfall in
parking provision.

6.27

A number of objectors have referred to the new access being of insufficient width. The
West Sussex Highways Team have confirmed that the documents provided and swept path
tracking diagrams demonstrating both refuse and fire appliances do show that there are no

Page 52

issues with the proposed access width and it is suitable and acceptable. The provided
plans demonstrate, via swept path tracking that a refuse vehicle can safely enter the site,
turn within the proposed turning head and exit the site in a forward gear. This would also
provide sufficient space for a fire appliance to service each dwelling in an emergency. The
application is therefore acceptable on highways and parking grounds, subject to
appropriate conditions.
Ecology
6.28

Policy 31 of the HDPF states that development will be supported where it demonstrates
that it maintains or enhances the existing network of green infrastructure. Development
proposals will be required to contribute to the enhancement of existing biodiversity, and
should create and manage new habitats where appropriate.

6.29

Circular 06/2005 identifies that the presence of protected species is a material
consideration when considering a development proposal that, if carried out, would be likely
to result in harm to the species or its habitat. Therefore, it is essential that the presence or
otherwise of protected species, and the extent that they may be affected by the proposed
application, is established before planning permission is granted. Information on
biodiversity impacts and opportunities should inform all stages of development, and an
ecological survey is usually necessary where the type and location of development are
such that the impact on biodiversity may be significant and existing information is lacking or
inadequate.

6.30

The Applicant has submitted an ‘Updated’ and Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Survey and
Badger Survey Report by Wychwood Environmental Limited. Following consultation with
the Council’s Ecologist, no objections to the proposal have been raised and it is considered
that the proposals will result in no harm to protected species on the site. The biodiversity
enhancements are considered acceptable, and it is suggested that this be secured by
condition to include the submission of an up to date Biodiversity Mitigation and
Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species and a lighting design scheme for
biodiversity.
Arboriculture

6.31

A number of trees are proposed to be removed in order to facilitate the development. The
vast majority of these trees are low quality Category C trees. The removal of a category B
tree (Beech T02) and the part removal of some Category B vegetation (Holly and Hazel
TG04) is necessary to facilitate the access to the site. Additionally, the removal of some
Category B shrubs (Hazel SG07) is also unavoidable to accommodate the dwelling at Plot
3. However, it is not considered that the loss of these trees would have any harmful
impacts on the visual amenities of the area. A condition requiring details of additional
planting to the boundaries, particularly the eastern boundary is suggested. In accordance
with Policy 3 of the Nuthurst Parish Neighbourhood Plan, the vast majority of trees and
bushes fronting Winterpit Lane would be retained.
Climate Change and Sustainability

6.32

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. The proposed development
includes the following measures to build resilience to climate change and reduce carbon
emissions:


Fabric first design approach with high levels of insulation and solar gain

Page 53









6.33

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:






6.34

Air Source Heat Pumps
Integration of SUDS and green infrastructure to manage flood risk
Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity
Cycle parking facilities
Refuse and Recycling provision
Improved energy performance to meet/above Part L, including boilers and
appliances

Securing of SUDS and protection/improvement of green infrastructure
Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
5 electric vehicle charging points
Cycle Parking Provision

Subject to these conditions the application will suitable reduce the impact of the
development on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusion

6.35

Overall, the proposed dwellings would represent an appropriate form of development,
positioned appropriately within the site and would not have a detrimental impact on the
surrounding area, the prevailing character of the street scene, or the amenities of adjacent
occupiers. Subject to the conditions below, the application is considered to accord with the
HDPG and Nuthurst Parish Neighbourhood Plan and is recommended for approval.

6.36

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Residential

Existing

Net Gain

645.17

645.17
Total Gain
Total Demolition

645.17
329.2

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is permitted subject to the following conditions-

Page 54

1

A list of the approved plans

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until the following
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination, (including
asbestos contamination), of the site be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local
planning authority:
(a)

A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.

The following aspects (b) - (d) shall be dependent on the outcome of the above preliminary
risk assessment (a) and may not necessarily be required.
(b)

An intrusive site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information
for a detailed risk assessment to the degree and nature of the risk posed by
any contamination to all receptors that may be affected, including those off
site.

(c)

The intrusive site investigation results following (b) and, based on these, a
detailed method statement, giving full details of the remediation measures
required and how they are to be undertaken.

(d)

A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order
to demonstrate that the works set out in (c) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance
and arrangements for contingency action where required.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Any changes to these components require the consent of the local planning authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: Prior to the commencement of the scheme hereby
approved, a Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority
species, containing the measures outlined in the Updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Report (Wychwood Environmental, May 2020) shall be submitted to and approved in

Page 55

writing by the local planning authority. The content of the Biodiversity Mitigation and
Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones.
b) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or
reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).
c) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
d) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to
oversee works.
e) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
f) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
g) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs
h) detailed designs to achieve stated biodiversity enhancement objectives;
i) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
j) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
k) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance protected and Priority species & habitats and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and
in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
6

Pre-Commencement Condition: The development hereby approved shall not commence
until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall include details of the
following relevant measures:
i.
An introduction consisting of a description of the construction programme, definitions
and abbreviations and project description and location;
ii.
Details of how residents will be advised of site management contact details and
responsibilities;
iii.
Detailed site logistics arrangements (to include details shown on a plan), including
location of site compounds, location for the loading and unloading of plant and
materials, site offices (including height and scale), and storage of plant and materials
(including any stripped topsoil);
iv.
Details regarding parking or site operatives and visitors, deliveries, and storage (to
include details shown on a plan);
v.
The method of access to and from the construction site;
vi.
The arrangements for public consultation and liaison prior to and during the
demolition and construction works – newsletters, fliers etc;
vii. Details of any floodlighting, including location, height, type and direction of light
sources, hours of operation and intensity of illumination;
viii. Locations and details for the provision of wheel washing facilities and dust
suppression facilities (to include details shown on a plan).
The construction shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the details and
measures approved in the CEMP.

7

Reason: As this matter is fundamental in order to consider the potential impacts on the
amenity of nearby occupiers and highway safety during construction and in accordance
with Policies 33 and 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of
materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, roofs, windows and doors
of the approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning

Page 56

Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the development hereby
permitted shall conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve buildings of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015)
8

Pre-occupation Condition: Notwithstanding previously submitted information, prior to the
first occupation of the new dwelling(s) hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft
landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:








Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
Details of all boundary/residential curtilage treatments
Details of any external lighting
Existing and proposed lands levels
Ecological and Biodiversity Enhancements

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of
the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees
or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or
lopped without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years
after completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5
years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in
the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning
Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and
townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of visual
amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
9

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling(s) hereby
permitted, the vehicular access serving the development shall be constructed in
accordance with the details shown on the drawing titled Site Access - Visibility Splay and
numbered 099.0013.002 Revision D and shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To ensure adequate access facilities are available to serve the development in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

10

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until such
time as the existing vehicular access onto Winterpit Lane has been physically closed in
accordance with plans and details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate access facilities are available to serve the development in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the car
parking, secure and covered cycle parking and vehicle turning space necessary to serve
that dwelling(s) have been be implemented in accordance with the approved details as
shown on plan no. HA21-140 P03 REV 03 and shall be thereafter retained as such.

Page 57

Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to serve
the development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
12

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a fast
charge electric vehicle charging point for each dwelling has been installed. As a minimum,
the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector. The means for
charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for
pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

13

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide
infrastructure to enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through
full fibre broadband connection has been provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

14

Pre-Occupation Condition: No development shall commence until a lighting design
scheme for biodiversity has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are particularly sensitive for
bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and
show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate
lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set
out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no
circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the
local planning authority.
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity of the
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and
to enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance
with policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

15

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall meet the optional requirement
of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres per person
per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Regulatory Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied unless and
until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been provided within the garage
or side or rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at
all times.

Page 58

Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in accordance
with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
17

Regulatory Condition: All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be
carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Report (Wychwood Environmental, May 2020) already submitted with the planning
application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological
clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The
appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in
accordance with the approved details
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended, s40 of the NERC Act 2006
(Priority habitats & species) and Policy 31 of the Horsham Development Framework.

18

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 0800 hours to 1800 hours Mondays to Fridays and
0800 hours to 1300 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

19

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order revoking and/or
re-enacting that Order) no development falling within Classes A, AA, B, C, D, E, and F Part
1 of Schedule 2 of the order shall be erected, constructed or placed within the curtilages of
all plots without express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being
obtained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve buildings of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015) and Policy 5 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

20

Regulatory Condition: The garage(s) and Car Ports hereby permitted shall be used only
as private domestic garages for the parking of vehicles incidental to the use of the
properties as dwellings and for no other purposes.
Reason: To ensure adequate off-street provision of parking in the interests of amenity and
highway safety, and in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

21

Regulatory Condition:
Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling/unit forming part of the proposed development,
the owner/occupier will, at their own expense, install a fire hydrant in accordance with the
West Sussex Fire and Rescue Guidance Notes and to BS 750 standards or stored water
supply and arrange for their connection to a water supply which is appropriate in terms of
both pressure and volume for the purposes of firefighting.
The fire hydrant shall thereafter be maintained as part of the development by the water
undertaker at the expense of the Fire and Rescue Service if adopted as part of the public
mains supply (Fire Services Act 2004) or by the owner / occupier if the installation is
retained as a private network.

Page 59

Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with policy HDPF Policies 33 and 39
and in accordance with The Fire & Rescue Service Act 2004.

Background Papers: DC/21/0685
DC/20/1645

Page 60

07) DC/21/0685
Holly Farm, Winterpit Lane, Mannings Heath

¯

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
5

1

Birchfield Pond
Brambles

8

RIES
QU
E AR
TH
9

Stone
Cottage

Quarries
Cottage

Little Mannings

Orrell House

Oak
Tree
House

Winterfold

Brambletye
NE

Fairoaks

Pond

88.4m
86.9m

84.7m

Forest House Lodge

Forest House Cottage

R
T
ES

Wildwood

R
PA

Forest
Farm

K

Forest House

1

Holly Farm

k
e Tan

FO

Walders
Walder's Wood

g
Sewa
Farm
Seamans
Meadowlands

I T LA
ERP
WINT

Pippins

2

Track

Litchborough House

Mannings Heath

k
Trac

Pond

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

22/07/2021

Page 61MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

03 August 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of 4No. semi-detached double storey dwellings.

SITE:

Land North of 17 Foxes Close Southwater West Sussex

WARD:

Southwater South and Shipley

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2589

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr Kevin Slight Address: 5 Mount Noddy Cuckfield Road Ansty
Haywards Heath RH17 5AG

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: This site is owned by Horsham District Council

RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve full planning permission subject to appropriate conditions
and the completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement. In the event that
the legal agreement is not completed within three months of the decision
of this Committee, the Director of Place be authorised to refuse
permission on the grounds of failure to secure the obligations necessary
to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of four three bedroomed
semi- detached two-storey properties. The two pairs of semi-detached houses would be
identical with a staggered frontage and rear elevation and two off-street parking spaces in
private front driveways for each property.

1.2

Each property would have a footprint of 63 square metres and GIA of 110 square metres.
Each property would have a private rear garden with existing trees retained on the eastern
boundary, pedestrian side access, and cycle and bin storage to the front of the properties.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.3

The application site comprises an area of land measuring around 0.11 hectares, owned by
Horsham District Council and situated in the Built-Up-Area of Southwater. The site is
accessed via Foxes Close and currently consists of unmanaged scrubland and trees.

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 63

Tel:

1.4

The surrounding area consists of a mixture of residential properties all within a similar red
brick style with hipped roofs and clay/ red tiles. To the south of the site sits a pair of semidetached properties with off-street parking to the front and landscaping in a similar style to
the proposed development. Opposite the site are two residential buildings containing five
flats that sit closer to the road but are of a similar character to the surrounding houses. To
the north of the site is a boundary with number 11 ‘The Gables’. The Gables consists of
bungalows, with the site being separated from the garden of number 11 by an existing
hedge and a brick built wall forms the boundary to their side garden along Foxes Close
which sits adjacent to the site.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.2

National Planning Policy Framework

2.3

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 30 - Protected Landscapes
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Policy 41 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2.4

Southwater Neighbourhood Plan was ‘made’ on 23 June 2021.
SNP2.1- Proposals for Residential Development
SNP9- Home Standards
SNP10- Residential Space Standards
SNP14- Adequate provision of car parking
SNP16- Design
SNP18.1- A treed landscape
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS

2.5

None

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk

Page 64

INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
3.2

HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
The land use history of the site is unknown. Although the risks from ground contamination
are considered to be low in this case, the presence of unsuspected contamination cannot
be discounted, especially that there is a 1960s clay bricks manufacture site visible on the
Council's maps. Accordingly I recommend that a land contamination condition, along with a
construction phase condition to be attached if consent is to be granted.

3.3

Parks and Countryside Manager: Comments
This site has previously been reviewed for potential development by Parks and
Countryside and it was recommended that the amenity value of the site is low and quality
of tree cover is low, with difficulty in accessing the site for recreation or maintenance. At the
time the ecological value of the site was not measured, but it was recommended that an
ecology survey was carried out.
The size of the site is at least 1Ha, and as such it is included in the HDC Open Space
Sport and Recreation Study, which identifies quantities of green infrastructure across the
District. The development of this site will result in a loss of natural open space of 1Ha,
although it is currently identified within the OSSR as amenity green space.
Current indications show that there is not currently a deficiency in natural open space or
amenity green space within the Parish of Southwater, but there is a deficiency in parks and
gardens. Future projections indicate a potential deficiency in both parks and gardens and
amenity green space by 2037.
Given the following:
- There are currently trees and scrub on site.
- The Council has a commitment to Wilder Horsham initiatives including the nature
recovery network.
- Southwater Neighbourhood Plan SNP18.1 identifies that "Where existing trees or an area
of woodland is to be lost, it must be replaced with trees or new woodland of greater
environmental value on site or elsewhere within the plan area." and “Development
proposals should produce measurable enhancements to the treed environment to ensure
biodiversity net gain.”
The developer should
- Provide details of the ecology survey and any mitigation actions
- Provide a survey of existing trees within the developable land
- Provide a plan for mitigating the loss of trees

3.4

Tree Officer: No Objection
From looking at the tree stock at the site, I do not consider that there has been any change
in circumstances since Will visited on 14/07/2017 in regards to PE/17/0110, and his
comments still represent an accurate assessment of the species and quality of the trees at
the site.
I accept that if the development were to gain permission that the loss of trees in this area
would result in some loss of amenity to the immediate area, however, I do not consider that
the trees at the site are of the quality needed to be considered suitable specimens for
protection by a tree preservation order (TPO).
Previous comments:
1. This quarter-acre plot within the residential area of Foxes Close is fully ‘wooded’, that is,
covered entirely with tree stock. There are two large trees of considerable age in the far
north-east corner (oaks), and these certainly pre-date the development in the locality and

Page 65

appear to once have been field edge trees. However, the rest of the plot is of far younger
vintage; whereas the 1976 Ordnance Survey depicts the plot as lightly wooded, the 1962
OS shows it as open land, as do previous iterations of the OS dating back to 1875 at which
time it was clearly an open field.
2. This is reflected in the tree stock on the plot. Field maple is predominant, together with
oak, Wild privet, blackthorn, hawthorn, laurel (an ‘invader’ species), elder, sycamore, holly,
and gean (wild cherry). This is a very typical species range given the soils in the vicinity.
You noted that a previous inspection had revealed the presence of Wild Service trees
(Sorbus torminalis) on the plot, but I can confirm that this is NOT the case; I suspect that
the very large leaves of some of the lower-level Field maple (expanded in size through
phototropism due to low light levels) were mistaken for Wild Service; this is far from the first
time that I have seen such misidentification in these circumstances. None of the trees is
larger in trunk diameter than around 450mm, commensurate with trees dating from the
1960’s and 70’s at the earliest (save for the two oaks noted, above).
3. Within the context of this residential area, this wooded plot represents a useful part of
the green infrastructure, and, viewed from all four aspects, provides a screening within, and
a greening to, the locality. However, I do not consider that it is of any especial or particular
merit, and without continual management at cost to the Council will deteriorate. It is already
overly dense, infested with brambles, and in need of thinning and management to
encourage its potential – if this is considered desirable. Whilst generally supporting the
principle of the retention of ‘green lungs’ within residential areas, the adventitious,
unplanned, self-seeded tree stock on this plot is of rather poor quality and, at present, illsuited to long-term retention. Although the two oaks noted are of far greater vintage that
the rest of the tree stock on the site, even these are less-than-optimal in terms of structure
and form. The larger of the two, a three-stemmed tree on the northern boundary of the site,
has one badly decorticated stem (bark-stripped), likely to foreshorten its safe useful life
expectancy. The closely adjacent oak on the eastern boundary is badly asymmetric, its
crown mostly hanging low over the garden of the adjacent property (2 Andrews Road).
4. In regard to the overview of such wooded plots within residential areas, I would normally
support its retention. However, its management and development into a quality area of
amenity woodland will come at considerable cost to the Council, and indeed I would argue
that the tree stock on the plot is of such low quality and potential that extensive remodelling of the area would be required to encourage its development into a quality feature
with long-term potential. Its removal, in favour of development, will of course result in a loss
of amenity to the locality, especially when viewed from Foxes Close. But none of the trees
on the site – nor the plot as a whole – would I consider meets the criteria for protection by a
tree preservation order.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection
The site is located on Foxes Close, an un-classified no-through residential road subject to
a speed limit of 30mph. The proposed plans demonstrate that each dwelling will be
provided with a vehicle crossover (VCO). Three of the proposed crossovers will be approx.
4.6m wide and one approx. 5.4m wide. The applicant should be aware that the VCOs will
be subject to a licence from the Area Engineer and must be constructed to a specification
agreed with them.
Visibility at the proposed accesses appears sufficient for the anticipated road speeds in this
location. Due to the no-through nature of Foxes Close and presence of on-street parking,
vehicles are not anticipated to be travelling at the posted speed limit in this location.
The proposed plans demonstrate that each dwelling will be provided with two parking
spaces. The WSCC parking demand calculator expects that a minimum of 3 parking

Page 66

spaces would be required per dwelling in this location. The LHA do however acknowledge
that this figure represents the worst case scenario, so it is likely that any shortfall in parking
provision is likely to be related to visitor car parking demand and is not likely to represent a
shortfall that will be present all of the time. The LPA may wish to consider the impacts of
overspill parking on on-street parking provision from an amenity point of view.
The site is sustainably located within walking distance of bus stops providing access to
surrounding areas. Cycling is a viable option within the vicinity and secure and covered
cycle stores are proposed within the front garden of each dwelling.
The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph
109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
Conditions advised: Access/ Car Parking/ Cycle Parking/ EV Charging Spaces
Ecology Consultant: Comments
We have reviewed the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Wharton, March 2021). We note
that the report identifies that the habitat onsite is solely deciduous woodland. The
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Wharton, March 2021) therefore recommends that a
“national vegetation classification (NVC) survey should be undertaken between April –
August to establish the botanical communities present within the woodland and its ground
flora at the Site. This will allow a robust assessment of the importance of the woodland and
subsequent impacts of its removal.” Lowland Deciduous Woodland is a Priority habitat, and
appropriate assessment of the quality of the woodland is required to assess if the habitat
onsite is a qualifies as a Priority habitat. The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Wharton,
March 2021) further states “due to the loss of ecologically important habitat such as HPI
(Priority deciduous woodland) within the Site boundary, the DEFRA metric must be
completed following completion of the NVC survey to allow appropriate compensation for
the loss of woodland to be made.”
We recommend that the further NVC survey and Biodiversity Net Gain Calculation is
completed, prior to determination, to assess the likely impact of the development on Priority
habitats.
The site is also within the wider conservation area for The Mens Special Area of
Conservation (SAC). We note that the LPA will need to prepare a Habitats Regulations
Assessment screening report for this application so any significant impacts, e.g. lighting, or
severance of flightlines, are assessed for impacts on Barbastelle bats. We support the
conclusions of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Wharton, March 2021) that the site is
too isolated within an urban area to support Barbastelle bats, and the information included
in the report is sufficient for the production of the HRA.
Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report:
Having considered the proposal, Horsham District Council concludes that, the project will
not have a Likely Significant Effect on the designated features of the Habitats sites listed in
this assessment, either alone or in combination with other plan and projects. Having
prepared this HRA screening of the implications of the plan or project for the sites in view of
those sites’ conservation objectives, the authority can agree to the project under regulation
63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).
Southern Water: No Objection
Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the public foul sewer to be
made by the applicant or developer.

Page 67

It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the development
site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation of
the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works commence
on site.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
Southwater Parish Council: Objection
1. 25/02/2021
Objection due to the loss of woodland habitat and oak trees, additional traffic generation to
the area, potential loss of privacy for adjacent properties, overdevelopment of site and
contrary to the parking guidelines of WSCC and emerging Neighbourhood Plan. The
Council strongly disagrees with the highways assessment as the road is narrow and will
cause congestion. This is not an allocated site within the emerging Southwater
Neighbourhood Plan.
2. 04/03/2021
SNP18.1 is the relevant policy in this case and requires that:
“Development proposals should produce measurable enhancements to the treed
environment to ensure biodiversity net gains (regardless of land ownership). Where
existing trees or an area of woodland is to be lost, it must be replaced with trees or new
woodland of greater environmental value on site or elsewhere within the Plan Area. Trees
planted should be suitably mature and, as a minimum, conform to British Standard BS
3936-1 / Standard 10-12cm girth.”
To be policy compliant the proposed development needs to meet the two tests. First, the
proposed development should produce measurable enhancements to the treed
environment to ensure biodiversity net gains and second, any trees lost should be replaced
on site or within the plan area. Neither of these tests have been met in this case and we
provide some commentary below.
The first test should be demonstrated through the missing ecology and arboricultural
reports. No proposals are made in relation to the second test either meaning this is also not
met. SNP18.1 requires that lost trees should be replaced with new trees of greater
environmental value, suitably mature and, as a minimum, conform to British Standard BS
3936-1 / Standard 10-12cm girth. At this time we are unable to confirm what trees need to
be provided as no baseline assessment of the site has been undertaken. Once it has been
established what is required by way of replacement trees, these should be provided on
site, if this is not possible it is for the applicant to identify a suitable location within the Plan
Area where they have a right to plant the required trees. The Parish Council owns
significant land within the Plan Area and would welcome discussions with anyone needing
to plant new trees as a result of SNP18. However the Parish Council is not the only
landowner and applicants could propose to plant the required trees on land owned by
others within the plan area. If off-site planting was required then this would need to be
secured via a S106 agreement.
To summarise, to demonstrate compliance with SNP18.1 the applicant needs to:
1. Undertake a Tree Survey & Arboriculturally Impact Assessment
2. Undertake ecology work to establish the current biodiversity value of the trees on the site.
3. Demonstrate how the proposed development will deliver measurable enhancements to the
treed environment to ensure biodiversity net gains.
4. Confirm where replacement trees will be provided on site in a way that will not result in
conflict with the new development, or demonstrate that they can provide the replacement
trees elsewhere within the Plan Area.

Page 68

If the applicant is able to demonstrate that the above policy tests can be met:
 on site, we would expect to see an acceptable landscaping plan and a condition on the
decision notice requiring the trees to be planted as shown and then maintained moving
forward.
 off-site, we would expect a S106 agreement securing the planting of the trees prior to
determination.
Compliance with the tests in SNP18.1 is not a matter which can be left to a condition to
resolve, as that would mean approving an application without knowing whether the scheme
is in accordance with the development plan. The policy requirements must be addressed
now prior to determination.
3. 22/06/2021
The appropriateness of the CAVAT calculation is questionable as it puts a financial figure
to the value of a tree’s amenity, and not biodiversity value which is what SNP18.1 relates
to. However, we appreciate that it is one of the few widely accepted ways to give a financial
value to trees. Until we can issue further guidance on the matter, the Parish Council is
happy that CAVAT be used to ascertain the S106 contribution required.
The Parish Council owns a considerable amount of land within the Plan Area and we can
confirm that we would be happy to plant compensatory trees on this land - the exact
location will be determined in due course. We suggest that the funds are earmarked in the
S106 for ‘the planting of trees (minimum size being British Standard BS 3936-1 / Standard
10-12cm girth) by Southwater Parish Council on land owned by, or under the control of,
Southwater Parish Council within the Southwater Neighbourhood Plan Area’.
4. 02/07/2021
I can confirm that the approach you have set out to be a reasonable and pragmatic
response to SNP18.1.
REPRESENTATIONS
Seven letters of objection have been received. These are summarised as:
 Access issues due to on street parking nearby and narrow nature of road
 Disturbance during construction stages
 Loss of trees
 Impact on wildlife – nesting birds should not be disturbed March to September.
 Loss of privacy and light to dwellings at rear
 Impact on rear fence line and security
 Would require radon protective measures
 Overdevelopment
 First floor side windows not required or should be obscure glazing
 A continuation of the existing wall on the boundaries with The Gables would be
more in keeping than a potentially removable hedge.
 Issues with subsidence caused by trees on this land
4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

Page 69

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.
PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.

Principle of Development
6.1

Policy 3 (Development Hierarchy) of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF)
states that the district has a distinct settlement pattern which should be retained and
enhanced. It states that development will be permitted within towns and villages which
have a defined built up area boundary (BUAB) where any development will be required to
demonstrate that it is of an appropriate nature and scale to maintain the characteristics and
function of the settlement in accordance with the settlement hierarchy set out within the
policy.

6.2

Policy SNP2 of the Southwater Neighbourhood Plan (SNP) states that proposals for new
residential development on sites within the Built-Up Area Boundaries will be considered in
the context of all relevant policies in this Plan, and how they contribute to the achievement
of sustainable development. Proposals which comply in full with these policies will be
supported.

6.3

This application site is located within the defined built up area of Southwater and is
therefore considered to be an appropriate location for housing development. The proposal
is therefore considered to be acceptable in principle, subject to all other material
considerations.
Character and Appearance

6.4

HDPF Policies 32 and 33 seek to promote development of high quality and inclusive design
for all development in the district, ensuring that it is complementary of local distinctive
character and heritage, integrating with their surroundings. Furthermore, these policies
ensure that the scale, massing and appearance of the development is of a high standard of
design and layout and where relevant, relates sympathetically with the built surroundings.

6.5

SNP16 (Design) of the SNP sets out what is considered as good design in Southwater and
states that for Southwater high quality design means: Locally sourced materials wherever
possible; a variety of complementary vernaculars to encourage diversity in design; Using
Secure By Design Principles; Design that responds to the other properties in the vicinity;
No unacceptable harm to amenity; screened extra structures such as bin stores, cycle
sheds; No unnecessary infrastructure clutter; No unacceptable light pollution/spillage; Good
levels of security.

6.6

This application site consists of a plot size measuring 0.1 hectare which is considered to be
an appropriate size to accommodate four semi-detached new dwellings whilst maintaining
the character of the streetscene within the area. The density of the development would be
40 dwellings per hectare and is in line with the adjacent properties and appropriate for this
sustainable location in the built up area of Southwater.

6.7

The proposed dwellings have been designed to reflect the appearance and form of similar
properties in the road and are of an appropriate scale and attractive design. The position in
the plot of each pair of semis mimics the development pattern of 16 and 17 Foxes Close
and effectively continues the building line along the street.

6.8

Although the bin store and cycle store are designed to be located to the front of the
properties, landscaping is proposed to partially screen these from the road. Full details of

Page 70

bin and cycle stores will be required via a condition, as well as details of the landscaping to
the front gardens.
6.9

Overall, for the reasons outlined above, it is considered that the proposals represent an
appropriate form of development within this residential built up location which would not
harm the character of the surrounding area and would be suitable for the plot size, in
accordance with policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF and policy SNP16 of the SNP.
The amenities of the occupiers of adjoining properties

6.10

Policy 33 of the HDPF states that permission will be granted for development that does not
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of the occupiers/users of nearby properties and
land.

6.11

Policy SNP16 (e) of the SNP states that high quality design will not result in unacceptable
harm to the amenities of existing and proposed buildings, particularly with regard to
privacy, outlook, daylight and sunlight.

6.12

The positioning of the proposed dwellings and distances preserved to neighbouring
development would ensure that there is no harmful impact on neighbouring amenity.
Concern has been raised by the residents of the neighbouring property at number 17
Foxes Close in relation to the noise impact of construction in this quiet cul-de-sac
particularly with the increase in people working from home during the day and the potential
disturbance. A condition is suggested to be added to this planning permission requiring a
Construction Management Plan to set out in detail how the site would be managed and
operated throughout construction as well as a limit on the hours of construction. This
would also help to ensure construction traffic is not parked on the street inappropriately.

6.13

The position of the proposed properties would not be considered to create any
unacceptable overlooking or loss of privacy for the adjoining neighbours. Due to potential
oblique views from the proposed hallway first floor windows to the properties to either side
of the dwellings these should be conditioned to be obscurely glazed and non-opening. The
rear elevations of the proposed properties are staggered

6.14

Concern has been raised by neighbours to the rear of the property on Andrews Close in
relation to loss of privacy and overlooking. However, the distance between the proposed
properties and the rear elevations of the properties along Andrews close measures to over
30m, which would in-line with Design Guidance, and the planting along the rear (eastern)
boundary with Andrews Close is proposed to remain. There is therefore not considered to
be any unacceptable loss of amenity to the properties to the rear, or any of the surrounding
properties in this residential area.

6.15

Taking into account these distances as well as the orientation and positioning of windows
to the proposed dwellings and neighbouring properties, it is considered that the proposals
would be acceptable on amenity grounds
The quality of the resulting residential environment for future occupiers

6.16

SNP9 of the SNP states that all new homes should achieve M4(2) (adaptable dwellings) of
the optional requirements in the Building Regulations to ensure homes are fit for all ages
and adaptable for the future. SNP10 states that all new residential units must meet the
national space standards and have access to adequate outdoor space to meet the needs
of future occupants.

6.17

It is considered that the proposed development provides adequate indoor and outdoor
living space for occupants. The national space standards require two storey, 3 bedroom (5
person) properties to have a Gross Internal Area of at least 93m2. The proposed GIA of

Page 71

these properties are 110 m2 each. Suitable distances would be preserved to neighbouring
development to ensure that there would not be any harmful overlooking and other
properties would not appear as overbearing on the proposed dwellings. As such, it is
considered that the proposal would not be dissimilar to the adjacent properties and there
would be an appropriate quality level of environment for the future occupiers of the
proposed dwellings.
Trees and Ecology
6.18

HDPF policy 31 requires proposals to contribute to the enhancement of existing
biodiversity, and should create and manage new habitats where appropriate. HDPF policy
25 seeks to protect the existing landscape character and landform from inappropriate
development.

6.19

SNP Policy SNP18.1 (A treed landscape) states that development proposals should
produce measurable enhancements to the treed environment to ensure biodiversity net
gains. Where existing trees or an area of woodland is to be lost, it must be replaced with
trees or new woodland of greater environmental value on site or elsewhere within the Plan
Area. Trees planted should be suitably mature and, as a minimum, conform to British
Standard BS 3936-1 / Standard 10-12cm girth.

6.20

The Applicants have submitted an Arboricultural Impact Assessment, a Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal Report and a resulting Capital Asset Valuation for Amenity Trees
Report (CAVAT). These assessments classified the site as ‘lowland mixed deciduous
woodland’ most of which would be lost through the implementation of this proposal. By the
nature of the proposal this cannot be avoided and would therefore need to be
compensated for off-site.

6.21

The Council’s Tree Officer has been consulted on this application and concluded that
within the context of this residential area, this wooded plot represents a useful part of the
green infrastructure, and, viewed from all four aspects, provides a screening within, and a
greening to, the locality. However, he did not consider that it is of any especial or particular
merit, and without continual management at cost to the Council would deteriorate further. It
is already overly dense, infested with brambles, is considered to be of low amenity value
and in need of thinning and management – if this is considered desirable. Whilst generally
supporting the principle of the retention of ‘green lungs’ within residential areas, the
adventitious, unplanned, self-seeded tree stock on this plot is of rather poor quality and, at
present, ill-suited to long-term retention.

6.22

The CAVAT Report was prepared by an Arboriculturalist who is a professional member of
the Arboricultural Association and a Lantra accredited Professional Tree Inspector aswell
as a trained user in the CAVAT system.

6.23

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (sections 198 & 199) establishes that trees have
value as a public amenity and that local planning authorities have a duty to act to protect
trees in the public interest. The legislation itself does not specify how their amenity is to be
assessed, leaving it open for the value of trees to be expressed in the most appropriate
way for the intended purpose, and not necessarily in monetary terms. Because CAVAT is
specifically designed as an asset management tool for trees that are publicly owned, or of
public importance, it expresses value in monetary terms, and in a way that is directly
related to the quantum of public benefits that each particular tree provides. Applied to the
tree stock as a whole it enables it to be managed as if it were a financial asset of the
community. CAVAT takes the replacement value approach, extrapolating from known
planting costs and adjusting for a short series of relevant factors. The assessment has
been refined to allow the final value to reflect realistically the contribution of the trees to
public welfare through tangible and intangible benefits.

Page 72

6.24

The CAVAT Report concluded that:
Having assessed the site I do not consider this to be a woodland of any special merit as it
is the result of several years of unmanaged tree growth of self-seeded pioneer tree and
shrub species. Moreover, I do not consider that any further survey assessment of the site is
beneficial as the component trees are in poor condition and the areas is only loosely
definable as woodland. My professional opinion is that W1 would classify at best as a
group of self-seeded scrub.

6.25

Despite this conclusion it is acknowledged that the development of this site would result in
the loss of a treed environment that serves an amenity purpose for the locality. A figure of
£31,558 has been calculated as an appropriate figure to re-provide the trees lost with
mitigation planting with the Southwater Neigbourhood Plan Area and this is recommended
to be included within a S106 agreement where payment will be required prior to occupation
of the development. This is considered to satisfy the requirements set out in SNP18.1 and
be an acceptable solution to re-provide the trees lost on this site where they can not be
satisfactorily re-provided on site due to constraints of the plot size.

6.26

The applicants have also submitted a Preliminary Ecological Assessment. This confirmed
that the site is relatively isolated from an ecological perspective due to the residential
nature of the area, and with poor connectivity to wildlife corridors the species on site are
likely to be limited. The assessment recommends offsite compensation for the loss of the
trees (already calculated through the CAVAT method above) as well as specific on-site
mitigation measures in relation to specific species of animal that may be on the site. These
include the following:




Amphibians and Reptiles: The removal of brash and log piles on Site must be
dismantled by hand and checked immediately prior to removal to reduce the likelihood
of adverse effects to this species.
Hedgehogs: The site must be checked by hand for hedgehogs prior to the removal of
understory scrub
Wild Birds: Replacement nesting opportunities within the proposed development should
include three integrated bird boxes on the north facing aspects out of direct sunlight at
a heigh of over 4 metres. The development should also include general nesting boxes
and open-fronted nest boxes

6.27

The Assessment also suggests ecological enhancement opportunities. These include the
inclusion of three integrated bat boxes into each property, two hedgehog shelters and
holes in the fencing to allow for their movement and the planting of a wide range of native
species including nectar and pollen rich species.

6.28

To secure these measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 these ecological mitigation and
biodiversity enhancement measures should be secured through the requirement for a
‘Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy’ to be submitted prior to commencement of
development or the clearing of the site. A construction environmental management plan
should also be required. Taking all of the above into account, the proposals are considered
to be acceptable in this regard.
Highways and Parking

6.29

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate
access, suitable for all users.

6.30

The site is situated within the Parking Behaviour Zone 2 as identified by West Sussex
County Council. This means that each three bedroomed property has been estimated to
have the demand for 2.1 spaces. This makes a total demand from the development of 8.4

Page 73

spaces. The proposal includes the provision of 8 spaces. Although this is a potential
shortfall of 0.4 spaces, the parking guidance also states that consideration should be given
to the availability of sustainable modes of transport to allow for the reduction of expected
level of parking demand by up to 10%. Southwater is a sustainable location with regular
bus services and many services available within walking or cycling distance. The level of
parking proposed is also in line with the SNP Policy SNP14 that requires each three
bedroomed property to provide two parking spaces which is considered to be reasonable
and acceptable for the dwellings proposed.
6.31

Concern has been raised in relation to the narrow nature of Foxes Close for construction
vehicles and service vehicles. In relation to construction, a Construction Management Plan
is recommended to be submitted prior to commencement of the development to ensure a
construction vehicles cannot block the road during construction. It is considered that as this
is a residential street already and the development will provide adequate off street parking,
that on balance there are no reasonable highways grounds to refuse this application. The
proposals are therefore considered to be acceptable in this regard.
Climate Change

6.32

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. The proposed development
includes the following measures to build resilience to climate change and reduce carbon
emissions:




6.33

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:







6.34

Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity
Opportunities for biodiversity gain
Cycle parking facilities

Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
4 electric vehicle charging points
Cycle Parking
Refuse and Recycling

Subject to these conditions, the application will suitably reduce the impact of the
development on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusions

6.35

Overall, the proposed dwellings would represent an appropriate form of development,
positioned appropriately within the curtilage of the site and would not have a detrimental
impact on the surrounding area, the prevailing character of the street scene, or the
amenities of adjacent occupiers. Subject to the signing of a S106 to secure an appropriate
financial contribution to be used for mitigation planting within the Southwtaer
Neighbourhood Plan Area, and the conditions below, the application is considered to
accord with the HDPF and Southwater NP and is recommended for approval.

Page 74

6.36

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Zone 1

434

Existing

Net Gain

0

434

Total Gain
Total Demolition

0

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.
7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is permitted subject to the following conditions-

1

A list of the approved plans

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

4

Pre- Commencement Condition: No development, including any demolition works, shall
commence until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP
(Biodiversity) shall include the following:









risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;
identification of "biodiversity protection zones".
practical measures to avoid and reduce impacts during construction;
location and timing of works to avoid harm to biodiversity features;
responsible persons and line of communication;
The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person;
use of protected fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs and
containment, control and removal of any invasive or non-native species present on site

Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity of the
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and

Page 75

to enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

5

Pre-commencement Condition: The development hereby approved shall not commence
until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The Construction Management shall include details of, but not
be limited to, the following relevant measures:
i.

ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.

Detailed site logistics arrangements, including location of site compounds, location
for the loading and unloading of plant and materials, site offices (including height
and scale), and storage of plant and materials (including any stripped topsoil)
Details regarding parking of site operatives and visitors, deliveries, and storage
The method of access to and from the construction site
Locations and details for the provision of wheel washing facilities
loading and unloading of plant and materials
storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding and screening to neighbouring
properties
measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works

The approved details shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in order to consider the potential impacts on the
amenity of nearby occupiers and highway safety during construction and in accordance
with Policies 33 and 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content of the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy shall include the enhancement and mitigation measures set out in
the Preliminary Ecological Apprasial (210319 1239 PEA V1) March 2021 and the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity of the
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and
to enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

7

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of
materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows, roofs and doors
of the approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the development hereby
permitted shall conform to those approved.

Page 76

9

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
Pre-occupation Condition: Notwithstanding previously submitted information, prior to the
first occupation of the new dwelling(s) hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft
landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:






Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
Details of all boundary/residential curtilage treatments
Details of any external lighting

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of
the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees
or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or
lopped without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years
after completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5
years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in
the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning
Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and
townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of visual
amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
10

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the window(s) at first floor to the south and north elevations, as shown on
Drawing number J1544-01 REV C have been fitted with obscured glazing. No part of those
windows that are less than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room/area in which it is
installed shall be capable of being opened. Once installed the obscured glazing and nonopenable parts of those windows shall be retained permanently thereafter.
Reason: To protect the privacy of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling(s) hereby
permitted, the car parking, cycle parking and access facilities necessary to serve that
dwelling(s) shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details as shown on
drawing number J1544-01 REV C and shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to serve
the development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

12

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a fast
charge electric vehicle charging point for each dwelling has been installed. As a minimum,
the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector. The means for
charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for

Page 77

pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

13

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide
infrastructure to enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through
full fibre broadband connection has been provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

14

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied unless
and until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been provided within the
garage or side or rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter be retained for
use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in accordance
with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

15

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall meet the optional requirement
of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres per person
per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 0800 hours to 1800 hours Mondays to Fridays and
0800 hours to 1300 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

17

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order revoking and/or
re-enacting that Order) no development falling within Classes A, AA, B, C, D, E, and F Part
1 of Schedule 2 of the order shall be erected, constructed or placed within the curtilages of
all plots without express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being
obtained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve buildings of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015) and Policy 5 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan.

Background Papers: DC/20/2589

Page 78

08) DC/20/2589
Land North of 17 Foxes Close, Southwater
1

Babbac
ombe

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

TH
E

17

¯

h
Pat

Green Trees

6

G
A
E
BL
S

Sirac
u

sa

14

Southwater Lodge

Ca r t m
el

12

21

Kina
ra

a

White

12

FO X E

S CLO

52.7m

MI

Gates

SE

LL

Penang
1

RA
I

GH

T

Perles-own

3

4 to 8
2

1

Downsview

ST

Fordell
9 to 13

56.9m

20

Oakh
ur
Cotta st
ges

1

Hill Brow

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

ANDREWS ROAD

28

Cotta
g

es

1

22

1

18

4

16

TREETOPS

Coun
cil

10

Inglenook

15

20

13

7

4

12

14

Sa n J
ose
2 1

k

South
vi ew
Cotta
g es

11

2 1

n b an

8

G r ee

17

Highc
roft

Glenava

Andrews

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

22/07/2021

Page 79MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

